수 학 강 의 록

제 48 권



SOME APPLICATIONS OF THE BOCHNER-MARTINELLI INTEGRAL

A. M. KYTMANOV

서 울 대 학 교 수학연구소 • 대역해석학 연구센터 Notes of the Series of Lectures held at the Seoul National University

A. M. Kytmanov Mathematical Department Krasnoyarsk State University av.Svobodnyi 79 Krasnoyarsk 660041 Russia

펴낸날: 1999년 9월 14일 지은이: A. M. Kytmanov

펴낸곳: 서울대학교 수학연구소·대역해석학연구센터 [TEL:82-2-880-6562]

A. M. Kytmanov

SOME APPLICATIONS OF THE BOCHNER–MARTINELLI INTEGRAL

Course of Lectures

Seoul National University Seoul, 1999

Some Applications of the Bochner-Martinelli integral, A. M. Kytmanov. — A course of lectures held at Seoul National University, Seoul, 1999.

This course of lectures devoted entirely to the Bochner-Martinelli integral representation for holomorphic functions in several complex variables and its applications to the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem, holomorphic extension of functions, removable singularities of CR functions and others.

Introduction

The Bochner-Martinelli integral representation for holomorphic functions of several complex variables appeared in the works of Martinelli (1938) and Bochner (1943). It was the first essentially multidimensional representation in which the integration takes place over the whole boundary of the domain. This integral representation has a universal kernel (not depending on the form of the domain), like the Cauchy kernel in \mathbb{C}^1 . However, in \mathbb{C}^n when n > 1, the Bochner-Martinelli kernel is harmonic, but not holomorphic. For a long time, this circumstance prevented the wide application of the Bochner-Martinelli integral in multidimensional complex analysis.

Interest in the Bochner-Martinelli representation grew in the 1970's in connection with the increased attention to integral methods in multidimensional complex analysis. Moreover, it turned out that the very general Cauchy-Fantappiè representation found by Leray is easily obtained from the Bochner-Martinelli representation (Khenkin). Koppelman's representation for exterior differential forms, which has the Bochner-Martinelli representation as a special case, appeared at the same time.

The Cauchy-Fantappiè and Koppelman representations found significant applications in multidimensional complex analysis: constructing good integral representations for holomorphic functions, an explicit solution of the $\overline{\partial}$ -equation and estimates of this solution, uniform approximation of holomorphic functions on compact sets, etc.

At the beginning of the 1970's, it was shown that, notwithstanding the non-holomorphicity of the kernel, the Bochner-Martinelli representation holds only for holomorphic functions. In 1975, Harvey and Lawson obtained a result for odd-dimensional manifolds on spanning by complex chaines; the Bochner-Martinelli formula lies at its foundations. In the 1980's and 1990's, the Bochner-Martinelli formula was successfully exploited in the theory of function of several complex variables: in multidimensional residues, in complex (algebraic) geometry, in questions of boundary regularity of holomorphic mappings, in finding analogues of Carleman's formula, etc.

In sum, one may say that the Bochner-Martinelli formula gives the connection between complex and harmonic analysis in \mathbb{C}^n . This becomes especially apparent in the solution of the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem: any function

that is orthogonal to the holomorphic functions is the $\overline{\partial}$ -normal derivative of a harmonic function.

The material presented in this course of lectures was given at the Seoul National University in 1999. I thank Global Analysis Research Center of Seoul National University, and especially Professor Sang-Moon Kim and Professor Chong-Kyu Han for opportunity to do that.

Contents

	1.	Green's Formula in Complex Form	1
	2.	Corollaries of Green's Formula	4
	3.	The Hodge Operator	9
	4.	The $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann Problem for Functions	11
	5.	The Homogeneous $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann Problem	14
	6.	Solvability of the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann Problem	16
	7.	The Bochner-Martinelli Integral in the Ball	18
	8.	Generalizations of the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann Problem	21
	9.	Functions Representable by the Integral Formulas	25
	10.	The General Form of Integral Representations of Holomorphic	
		Functions	27
	11.	The Functions Representable by Logarithmic Residue Formula	29
	12.	Functions with the Property of One-dimensional Holomorphic	
		Continuation along Complex Lines	31
	13.	Holomorphic Extension from a Part of the Boundary	34
	14.	Removable Singularities of CR -functions	42
В	Bibliography		

1. Green's Formula in Complex Form

We consider n-dimensional complex space \mathbb{C}^n with variables $z=(z_1,\ldots,z_n)$. If z and w are points in \mathbb{C}^n , then we write $\langle z,w\rangle=z_1w_1+\cdots+z_nw_n$, and $|z|=\sqrt{\langle z,\bar{z}\rangle}$, where $\bar{z}=(\bar{z}_1,\ldots,\bar{z}_n)$. The topology in \mathbb{C}^n is given by the metric $\langle z,w\rangle\mapsto |z-w|$. If $z\in\mathbb{C}^n$, then $\mathrm{Re}\,z=(\mathrm{Re}\,z_1,\ldots,\mathrm{Re}\,z_n)\in\mathbb{R}^n$, where we write $\mathrm{Re}\,z_j=x_j$, and $\mathrm{Im}\,z=(\mathrm{Im}\,z_1,\ldots,\mathrm{Im}\,z_n)$ with $\mathrm{Im}\,z_j=y_j$; that is, $z_j=x_j+iy_j$ for $j=1,\ldots,n$. Thus $\mathbb{C}^n\simeq\mathbb{R}^{2n}$. The orientation of \mathbb{C}^n is determined by the coordinate order $(x_1,\ldots,x_n,y_1,\ldots,y_n)$. Accordingly, the volume form dv is given by $dv=dx_1\wedge\cdots\wedge dx_n\wedge dy_1\wedge\cdots\wedge dy_n=dx\wedge dy=(i/2)^ndz\wedge d\bar{z}=(-i/2)^nd\bar{z}\wedge dz$.

As usual, a function f on an open set $U \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ belongs to the space $\mathcal{C}^k(U)$ if f is k times continuously differentiable in U. (Here $0 \leq k \leq \infty$, and $\mathcal{C}^0(U) = \mathcal{C}(U)$). If M is a closed set in \mathbb{C}^n , then f belongs to $\mathcal{C}^k(M)$ when f extends to some neighborhood U of M as a function of class $\mathcal{C}^k(U)$. We will also consider the space $\mathcal{C}^r(U)$ (or $\mathcal{C}^r(M)$) when $r \geq 0$ is not necessarily an integer. A function f belongs to $\mathcal{C}^r(U)$ if it lies in the class $\mathcal{C}^{[r]}(U)$ (where [r] is the integral part of r), and all its derivatives of order [r] satisfy a Hölder condition on U with exponent r - [r].

The space $\mathcal{O}(U)$ consists of those functions f that are holomorphic on the open set U; when M is a closed set, $\mathcal{O}(M)$ consists of those functions f that are holomorphic in some neighborhood of M (a different neighborhood for each function). A function f belongs to $\mathcal{A}(U)$ if f is holomorphic in U and continuous on the closure \overline{U} (that is, $f \in \mathcal{O}(U) \cap \mathcal{C}(\overline{U})$).

A domain D in \mathbb{C}^n has boundary of class \mathcal{C}^k (we write $\partial D \in \mathcal{C}^k$) if $D = \{z : \rho(z) < 0\}$, where ρ is a real-valued function of class \mathcal{C}^k on some neighborhood of the closure of D, and the differential $d\rho \neq 0$ on ∂D . If k = 1, then we say that D is a domain with *smooth* boundary. We will call the function ρ a defining function for the domain D. The orientation of the boundary ∂D is induced by the orientation of D.

By a domain with *piecewise-smooth* boundary ∂D we will understand a smooth polyhedron, that is, a domain of the form $D = \{z : \rho_j(z) < 0, j = 1, \ldots, m\}$, where the real-valued functions ρ_j are class \mathcal{C}^1 in some neighborhood of the closure \overline{D} , and for every set of distinct indices j_1, \ldots, j_s we have $d\rho_{j_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge d\rho_{j_s} \neq 0$ on the set $\{z : \rho_{j_1}(z) = \cdots = \rho_{j_s}(z) = 0\}$. It is

SECTION 1

well known that Stokes's formula holds for such domains D and surfaces ∂D .

We denote the ball of radius $\varepsilon > 0$ with center at the point $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$ by $B(z,\varepsilon)$, and we denote its boundary by $S(z,\varepsilon)$ (that is, $S(z,\varepsilon) = \partial B(z,\varepsilon)$).

Consider the exterior differential form $U(\zeta, z)$ of type (n, n-1) given by

$$U(\zeta, z) = \frac{(n-1)!}{(2\pi i)^n} \sum_{k=1}^n (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\bar{\zeta}_k - \bar{z}_k}{|\zeta - z|^{2n}} d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta,$$

where $d\bar{\zeta}[k] = d\bar{\zeta}_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge d\bar{\zeta}_{k-1} \wedge d\bar{\zeta}_{k+1} \wedge \cdots \wedge d\bar{\zeta}_n$. When n = 1, the form $U(\zeta, z)$ reduces to the Cauchy kernel $\frac{1}{2\pi i} \cdot \frac{1}{\zeta - z} d\zeta$. The form $U(\zeta, z)$ clearly has coefficients that are harmonic in $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \{z\}$, and it is closed with respect to ζ (that is, $d_{\zeta}U(\zeta, z) = 0$).

Let $g(\zeta, z)$ be the fundamental solution to the Laplace equation:

$$g(\zeta, z) = \begin{cases} -\frac{(n-2)!}{(2\pi i)^n} \cdot \frac{1}{|\zeta - z|^{2n-2}} & \text{for } n > 1, \\ \frac{1}{2\pi i} \ln|\zeta - z|^2 & \text{for } n = 1. \end{cases}$$

Then

$$U(\zeta, z) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\partial g}{\partial \zeta_k} d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta$$

$$= (-1)^{n-1} \partial_{\zeta} g \wedge \sum_{k=1}^{n} d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta[k],$$

where the operator $\partial = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (d\zeta_k) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta_k}\right)$. We will write the Laplace operator Δ in the following form:

$$\Delta = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \zeta_k \partial \bar{\zeta}_k} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_k^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_k^2} \right).$$

If
$$\zeta_k = x_k + iy_k$$
, then $\frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta_k} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_k} - i \frac{\partial}{\partial y_k} \right)$, and $\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k} = \overline{\frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta_k}}$.

When $f \in \mathcal{C}^1(U)$, we define the differential form μ_f via

$$\mu_f = \sum_{k=1}^n (-1)^{n+k-1} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{\zeta}_k} d\zeta[k] \wedge d\bar{\zeta}.$$

THEOREM 1.1 (Green's formula in complex form). Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n with piecewise-smooth boundary, and let $f \in \mathcal{C}^2(\overline{D})$. Then

$$\int_{\partial D} f(\zeta)U(\zeta,z) - \int_{\partial D} g(\zeta,z)\mu_f(\zeta) + \int_{D} g(\zeta,z)\Delta f(\zeta) d\bar{\zeta} \wedge d\zeta = \begin{cases} f(z), & \text{if } z \in D, \\ 0, & \text{if } z \notin \overline{D}. \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

(The integral in (1.1) converges absolutely.)

PROOF. Since

$$d_{\zeta}(f(\zeta)U(\zeta,z) - g(\zeta,z)\mu_f(\zeta)) + g(\zeta,z)\Delta f \,d\bar{\zeta} \wedge d\zeta = 0, \tag{1.2}$$

Stokes's formula implies that (1.1) holds for $z \notin \overline{D}$.

If $z \in D$, then for sufficiently small positive ε , we obtain from (1.2) and Stokes's formula that

$$\int_{\partial D} f(\zeta)U(\zeta,z) - \int_{\partial D} g(\zeta,z)\mu_f(\zeta) + \int_{D\setminus B(z,\varepsilon)} g(\zeta,z)\Delta f(\zeta) d\bar{\zeta} \wedge d\zeta$$
$$= \int_{S(z,\varepsilon)} f(\zeta)U(\zeta,z) - \int_{S(z,\varepsilon)} g(\zeta,z)\mu_f(\zeta).$$

When n > 1,

$$\left| \int_{S(z,\varepsilon)} g(\zeta,z) \mu_f(\zeta) \right| \leqslant \frac{(n-2)!}{(2\pi)^n \varepsilon^{2n-2}} \int_{S(z,\varepsilon)} |\mu_f| \leqslant C\varepsilon,$$

that is,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{S(z,\varepsilon)} g(\zeta,z) \mu_f(\zeta) = 0.$$

(The argument for n = 1 is analogous.) However,

$$\int_{S(z,\varepsilon)} f(\zeta)U(\zeta,z) = \frac{(n-1)!}{(2\pi i)^n \varepsilon^{2n}} \int_{S(z,\varepsilon)} f(\zeta) \sum_{k=1}^n (-1)^{k-1} (\bar{\zeta}_k - \bar{z}_k) d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta$$

$$=\frac{(n-1)!}{(2\pi i)^n \varepsilon^{2n}} \int_{B(z,\varepsilon)} \left[nf(\zeta) + \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{\zeta}_k} (\bar{\zeta}_k - \bar{z}_k) \right] d\bar{\zeta} \wedge d\zeta.$$

Since

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2n}} \int_{B(z,\varepsilon)} \sum_{k=1}^n \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{\zeta}_k} (\bar{\zeta}_k - \bar{z}_k) \right) d\bar{\zeta} \wedge d\zeta = 0,$$

we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{S(z,\varepsilon)} f(\zeta) U(\zeta,z) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \frac{n!}{(2\pi i)^n \varepsilon^{2n}} \int_{B(z,\varepsilon)} f(\zeta) d\bar{\zeta} \wedge d\zeta$$
$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \frac{n!}{\pi^n \varepsilon^{2n}} \int_{B(z,\varepsilon)} f(\zeta) dv = f(z)$$

(by the mean-value theorem). \Box

2. Corollaries of Green's Formula

COROLLARY 2.1 (Bochner [12]). Let D be a bounded domain with piecewise-smooth boundary, and let f be a harmonic function in D of class $C^1(\overline{D})$. Then

$$\int_{\partial D} f(\zeta)U(\zeta, z) - \int_{\partial D} g(\zeta, z)\mu_f(\zeta) = \begin{cases} f(z), & \text{if } z \in D, \\ 0, & \text{if } z \notin \overline{D}. \end{cases}$$
 (2.1)

COROLLARY 2.2 (Koppelman [30]). Let D be a bounded domain with piecewise-smooth boundary, and let f be a function in $C^1(\overline{D})$. Then

$$\int_{\partial D} f(\zeta)U(\zeta,z) - \int_{D} \overline{\partial} f(\zeta) \wedge U(\zeta,z) = \begin{cases} f(z), & \text{if } z \in D, \\ 0, & \text{if } z \notin \overline{D}, \end{cases}$$
 (2.2)

where

$$\overline{\partial} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} d\bar{\zeta}_k \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\zeta}_k},$$

and integral in (2.2) converges absolutely.

Formula (2.2) is the Bochner-Martinelli formula for smooth functions. PROOF. Supposing at first that $f \in C^2(\overline{D})$, we transform the integral

$$\int_{D} \overline{\partial} f(\zeta) \wedge U(\zeta, z) = \int_{D} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_{k}} \frac{\partial g}{\partial \zeta_{k}} d\overline{\zeta} \wedge d\zeta = \int_{D} \partial_{\zeta} g \wedge \mu_{f}$$

$$= \int_{D} d\zeta (g\mu_{f}) - \int_{D} g\Delta f \, d\bar{\zeta} \wedge d\zeta = \int_{\partial D} g\mu_{f} - \int_{D} g\Delta f \, d\bar{\zeta} \wedge d\zeta$$

(here we have applied Stokes's formula, since all the integrals converges absolutely). Then for $z \in D$, formula (1.1) implies that

$$\int_{D} \overline{\partial} f(\zeta) \wedge U(\zeta, z) = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) U(\zeta, z) - f(z).$$

Now if $f \in \mathcal{C}^1(\overline{D})$, we obtain (2.2) by approximating f (in the metric of $\mathcal{C}^1(\overline{D})$) by functions of class $\mathcal{C}^2(\overline{D})$. \square

COROLLARY 2.3 (Bochner [12], Martinelli [58]). If D is a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n with piecewise-smooth boundary, and f is a holomorphic function in D of class $C(\overline{D})$. Then

$$\int_{\partial D} f(\zeta)U(\zeta, z) = \begin{cases} f(z), & \text{if } z \in D, \\ 0, & \text{if } z \notin \overline{D}. \end{cases}$$
 (2.3)

Formula (2.3) was obtained by Martinelli, and then by Bochner independently and by different methods. It is the first integral representation for holomorphic functions in \mathbb{C}^n in which the integration is carried out over the whole boundary of the domain. This formula is by now classical and has found a place in many textbooks on multidimensional complex analysis (see, for example, [68, 79]).

Formula (2.3) reduces to Cauchy's formula when n=1, but in contrast to Cauchy's formula, the kernel in (2.3) is not holomorphic (in z and ζ) when n>1. By splitting the kernel $U(\zeta,z)$ into real and imaginary parts, it is easy to show that $\int_{\partial D} f(\zeta)U(\zeta,z)$ is the sum of a double-layer potential and a tangential derivative of a single-layer potential; consequently, the Bochner-Martinelli integral inherits some of the properties of the Cauchy integral and some of the properties of the double-layer potential. It differs from the Cauchy integral in not being a holomorphic function, and it differs from the double-layer potential in having somewhat worse boundary behavior. At the same time, it establishes a connection between harmonic and holomorphic functions in \mathbb{C}^n when n>1.

Formula (2.2) implies the jump theorem for the Bochner-Martinelli integral.

SECTION 2

Let D be a bounded domain with piecewise-smooth boundary, and let f be a function in $C^1(\overline{D})$. Denote

$$Mf(z) = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta)U(\zeta, z), \quad z \notin \partial D.$$

We shall write $M^+f(z)$ for $z \in D$ and $M^-f(z)$ for $z \notin \overline{D}$.

Function Mf(z) is harmonic function for $z \notin \partial D$ and $Mf(z) \to 0$ as $|z| \to \infty$.

COROLLARY 2.4. Under these conditions function M^+f has a continuous extension on \overline{D} , function M^-f has a continuous extension on $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus D$, and

$$M^+ f(z) - M^- f(z) = f(z), \quad z \in \partial D.$$
 (2.4)

Formula (2.4) is a simplest jump formula for the Bochner-Martinelli integral. There are exist many jump theorems for different classes of functions: for Hölder functions [50], for continuous functions [16, 21], for integrable functions [34, 35], for distributions [13], for hyperfunctions [45] (see also [36, Chapter 1]).

Later on we shall need formula (2.3) for the Hardy spaces $\mathcal{H}^p(D)$, so we now recall some definitions (see, for example, [25, 74]). Let D be a bounded domain, and suppose that ∂D is a connected Lyapunov surface, that is, $\partial D \in \mathcal{C}^{1+\alpha}$, $\alpha > 0$. It is known that in such domains, the Green function (for the Laplace equation) $G(\zeta, z)$ has a good boundary behavior: for fixed $z \in D$, the function $G(\zeta, z) \in \mathcal{C}^{1+\alpha}(\overline{D})$.

We say that a holomorphic function f belongs to $\mathcal{H}^p(D)$ (where p > 0) if

$$\sup_{\varepsilon>0} \int_{\partial D} |f(\zeta - \varepsilon \nu(\zeta))|^p d\sigma < \infty$$

(here $d\sigma$ is the surface area element on ∂D and $\nu(\zeta)$ is the outer unit normal vector to the surface ∂D). A holomorphic function f belongs to $\mathcal{H}^{\infty}(D)$ if $\sup_{D} |f(z)| < \infty$.

The class $\mathcal{H}^p(D)$ may also be defined in the following way. Let $D = \{z : \rho(z) < 0\}$ for defining function ρ , and let $D_{\varepsilon} = \{z : \rho(z) < -\varepsilon\}$ for $\varepsilon > 0$. A holomorphic function $f \in \mathcal{H}^p(D)$ if

$$\sup_{\varepsilon>0} \int_{\partial D_{\varepsilon}} |f(\zeta)|^p d\sigma_{\varepsilon} < \infty.$$

As is shown in [74], this definition does not depend on the choice of the smooth defining function ρ .

COROLLARY 2.5. If $p \ge 1$ then for function $f \in \mathcal{H}^p(D)$ formula (2.3) holds.

PROOF. If $p \ge 1$ and $f \in \mathcal{H}^p(D)$, then f has normal boundary values almost everywhere on ∂D (see [25, 74]) that form a function of class $\mathcal{L}^p(\partial D)$ (we denote these boundary values again by f). Moreover, the function f can be reconstructed in D from its boundary values by Poisson's formula

$$f(z) = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) P(\zeta, z) \, d\sigma$$

(where $P(\zeta, z)$ is the Poisson kernel for D). Since the Green function $G(\zeta, z) = g(\zeta, z) + h(\zeta, z)$, where for fixed $z \in D$ the function $h(\zeta, z)$ is harmonic in D of class $\mathcal{C}^{1+\alpha}(\overline{D})$, we have

$$P(\zeta, z) d\sigma = U(\zeta, z)|_{\partial D} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\partial h}{\partial \zeta_k} d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta|_{\partial D}.$$

Since the differential form

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\partial h}{\partial \zeta_k} d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta$$

is closed, we have

$$\int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) \sum_{k=1} (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\partial h}{\partial \zeta_k} d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta$$

$$= \int_D f d \left(\sum_{k=1} (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\partial h}{\partial \zeta_k} d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta \right) = 0.$$

Consequently, formula (2.3) holds for $f \in \mathcal{H}^p(D)$. \square

We remark that it is possible to derive from the Bochner-Martinelli formula (2.3) the Cauchy-Fantappiè formula that was obtained by Leray [48, 49].

Let D be a bounded domain with piecewise-smooth boundary, and suppose that for a point $z \in D$ there is defined on ∂D a continuously

differentiable vector-valued function $\eta(\zeta) = (\eta_1(\zeta), \dots, \eta_n(\zeta))$ such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} (\zeta_k - z_k) \eta_k(\zeta) = 1, \quad \zeta \in \partial D.$$

THEOREM 2.1 (Leray). Every function $f \in \mathcal{A}(D)$ satisfies the equation

$$f(z) = \frac{(n-1)!}{(2\pi i)^n} \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta)\omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta, \quad z \in D,$$
 (2.5)

where $\omega'(\eta) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^{k-1} \eta_k \, d\eta[k]$.

PROOF. Khenkin's proof is as follows. Consider in the space \mathbb{C}^{2n} of variables $(\eta,\zeta)=(\eta_1,\ldots,\eta_n,\zeta_1,\ldots,\zeta_n)$ the analytic hypersurface $M_z=\{(\eta,\zeta)=\sum_{k=1}^n(\zeta_k-z_k)\eta_k=1\}$, on which the form $\omega'(\eta)\wedge d\zeta$ is closed. The two cycles

$$\Gamma_1 = \{(\eta, \zeta) : \zeta \in \partial D, \eta_j = (\bar{\zeta}_j - \bar{z}_j) | \zeta - z |^{-2}, j = 1, \dots, n \}$$

and

8

$$\Gamma_2 = \{(\eta, \zeta) : \zeta \in \partial D, \eta_j = \eta_j(\zeta), j = 1, \dots, n\}$$

in M_z are homotopic in M_z . The homotopy being given by the formula

$$\tilde{\eta}_j = t \frac{\bar{\zeta}_j - \bar{z}_j}{|\zeta - z|^2} + (1 - t)\eta_j(\zeta), \quad 0 \leqslant t \leqslant 1.$$

That is, they are homologous cycles. Consequently,

$$\int_{\Gamma_1} f(\zeta)\omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta = \int_{\Gamma_2} f(\zeta)\omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta$$

when f is a holomorphic function. But

$$\omega'\left(\frac{\bar{\zeta}_1-\bar{z}_1}{|\zeta-z|^2},\ldots,\frac{\bar{\zeta}_n-\bar{z}_n}{|\zeta-z|^2}\right)=\frac{(2\pi i)^n}{(n-1)!}U(\zeta,z).$$

Hence (2.5) follows. \square

The Cauchy-Fantappiè representation has turned out to be very useful, and it has many applications in multidimensional complex analysis.

Khenkin and Leiterer [26, Chapter 4] extended formula (2.3) to domains D in Stein manifolds.

Analogues of the Bochner-Martinelli formula have also been considered in quaternionic analysis [78] and in Clifford analysis [72].

3. The Hodge Operator

Subsequently we shall need some properties of the Hodge operator. We first consider the space \mathbb{R}^m with the usual Euclidean metric. Let $I=(i_1,\ldots,i_p)$ be an increasing multi-index, $dx_I=dx_{i_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge dx_{i_p}$, and $dx[I]=dx_{j_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge dx_{j_{m-p}}$, where $j_1<\cdots< j_{m-p}$, and $j_k\neq i_l$ for $k=1,\ldots,m-p$, $l=1,\ldots,p$. The symbol $\sigma(I)$ is defined by

$$dx_I \wedge dx[I] = \sigma(I) dx.$$

The Hodge star operator * acts on the form dx_I in the following way: $*dx_I = \sigma(I) dx[I]$. We extend it to an arbitrary form $\varphi = \sum_{I}' \varphi_I dx_I$ by linearity (the prime on the summation sign indicates that the sum is taken over increasing multi-indices I):

$$*\varphi = \sum_{I}' \varphi_{I} \sigma(I) dx[I].$$

We now give the main properties of the Hodge operator.

- (1) $dx_I \wedge *dx_I = dx = dx_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dx_m$.
- $(2) * * dx_I = (-1)^{mp+p} dx_I.$

We obtain from (1) and (2) that if φ and ψ are two p-forms, then

$$\varphi \wedge *\bar{\psi} = \sum_{I}' \varphi_{I} dx_{I} \wedge *\sum_{J}' \bar{\psi}_{J} dx_{J} = \left(\sum_{I}' \varphi_{I} \bar{\psi}_{I}\right) dx.$$

Consequently, a scalar product (φ, ψ) may be defined for p-forms φ and ψ with coefficients of class \mathcal{L}^2 in a domain $D \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ by

$$(\varphi,\psi)=\int_D \varphi\wedge *\bar{\psi}.$$

Then

$$(\varphi, \varphi) = \|\varphi\|^2 = \int_D \sum_I ' |\varphi_I|^2 dx.$$

This scalar product is called the *Hodge product*.

Now consider $\mathbb{C}^n \simeq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ with coordinates $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ and $z_j = x_j + iy_j$ for $j = 1, \ldots, n$. We have defined the volume form dv in \mathbb{C}^n as (see Sec. 1)

$$dv = dx \wedge dy = (i/2)^n dz \wedge d\bar{z}.$$

If $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_p)$ and $J = (j_1, \ldots, j_q)$ are increasing multi-indices, and we write the (p, q)-form $dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J$ in terms of the forms dx_j and dy_k , apply

the Hodge operator, and then express dx_j and dy_k in terms of dz_j and $d\bar{z}_k$, we obtain the following equality:

(3) * $(dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J) = 2^{p+q-n}(-1)^{pn}i^n\sigma(I)\sigma(J) dz[J] \wedge d\bar{z}[I]$ (a detailed calculation may be found in [80, Chapter V, Lemma 1.2]).

The Hodge operator extends to (p, q)-forms

$$\varphi = \sum_{I,J}' \varphi_{I,J} dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J$$

by linearity. Thus, $*\varphi$ is a form of type (n-q, n-p). Properties (1) and (2) carry over to the following:

(4) $dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J \wedge \overline{*(dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J)} = 2^{p+q} dv;$

 $(5) ** (dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J) = (-1)^{p+q} dz_I \wedge d\bar{z}_J.$

EXAMPLE 3.1. Let F be a smooth function, then

$$*\overline{\partial}F = *\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}_{k}} d\bar{z}_{k}\right)$$

$$=2^{1-n}i^{n}\sum_{k=1}^{n}(-1)^{k-1}\frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}_{k}}dz[k]\wedge d\bar{z}=2^{1-n}i^{n}(-1)^{n}\mu_{F}.$$

So what $\mu_F = i^n 2^{n-1} (* \overline{\partial} F)$.

EXAMPLE 3.2.
$$U(\zeta,z) = \frac{(n-1)!}{2\pi^n} (*\partial g(\zeta,z)).$$

By using the Hodge operator, it is easy to find the operators formally dual to d, $\overline{\partial}$, and ∂ . For example, we find $\overline{\partial}^*$. If φ is a (p, q - 1)-form and ψ is a (p, q)-form, φ and ψ have smooth coefficients of class $\mathcal{L}^2(D)$, and ψ has compact support in D, then $(\overline{\partial}\varphi, \psi) = (\varphi, \overline{\partial}^*\psi)$, and

$$(\overline{\partial}\varphi,\psi) = \int_{D} \overline{\partial}\varphi \wedge *\bar{\psi} = \int_{D} d\varphi \wedge *\bar{\psi} = \int_{D} d(\varphi \wedge *\bar{\psi}) + (-1)^{p+q} \int_{D} \varphi \wedge d * \bar{\psi}$$
$$= (-1)^{p+q} \int_{D} \varphi \wedge \overline{\partial} * \bar{\psi} = -\int_{D} \varphi \wedge *(\overline{*\partial} * \psi),$$

so
$$\overline{\partial}^* = - * \partial *$$
.

In just the same way, we see that $\partial^* = -*\overline{\partial}*$. The operator $\overline{\partial}^*$ carries forms of type (p,q) into forms of type (p,q-1). By definition, $\overline{\partial}^* = 0$ for forms of type (p,0).

We consider the operator $\Box = \bar{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} + \bar{\partial} \bar{\partial}^*$, which is known as the *complex Laplacian*. If φ is a function, then

$$\Box \varphi = \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} = \overline{\partial}^* \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \bar{z}_k} d\bar{z}_k = -* \partial \sum_{k=1}^n 2^{1-n} i^n (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \bar{z}_k} dz [k] \wedge d\bar{z}$$
$$= -* 2^{1-n} i^n \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial \bar{z}_k \partial z_k} dz \wedge d\bar{z} = -2 \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial \bar{z}_k \partial z_k} = -2\Delta \varphi,$$

that is, $\Box = -2\Delta$ for functions, and this identity continues to hold for forms (see, for example, [20, p. 106]). Thus, in \mathbb{C}^n , harmonic forms in the sense of \Box are forms with harmonic coefficients. It is also easy to show that $\Box = \partial \partial^* + \partial^* \partial$.

4. The $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann Problem for Functions

Suppose n > 1, and $D = \{z : \rho(z) < 0\}$ is a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n with boundary of class \mathcal{C}^1 , where ρ is defining function. If $F \in \mathcal{C}^1(\overline{D})$, then denote

$$\overline{\partial}_n F = \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}_k} \rho_k,$$

where $\rho_k = \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_k} \cdot \frac{1}{|\partial \rho|}$.

 $\overline{\partial}_n F$ is $\overline{\partial}$ -normal derivative of function F.

If we write the form

$$\overline{\partial}F = \overline{\partial}_b F + \lambda \frac{\overline{\partial}\rho}{|\overline{\partial}\rho|}$$

(where $\overline{\partial}_b F$ is a tangential part of the form $\overline{\partial} F$), then $\lambda = \overline{\partial}_n F$, that is $\overline{\partial}_n F$ is the coefficient of the normal part of the form $\overline{\partial} F$.

If we denote the outer unit normal to ∂D at z by $\nu(z)$, and $s(z)=i\nu(z)$, then

$$\overline{\partial}_n F = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \nu} + i \frac{\partial F}{\partial s} \right).$$

On the other hand from Example 3.1 and from equalities

$$d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta|_{\partial D} = 2^{n-1}i^n(-1)^{k-1}\bar{\rho}_k d\sigma, d\zeta[k] \wedge d\bar{\zeta}|_{\partial D} = 2^{n-1}i^n(-1)^{n+k-1}\rho_k d\sigma,$$
(4.1)

we have

$$\overline{\partial}_n F d\sigma = *\overline{\partial} F|_{\partial D} = 2^{1-n} i^n (-1)^n \mu_F|_{\partial D}.$$

If we consider function

$$\tilde{g}(\zeta, z) = 2^{n-1} i^n g(\zeta, z) = -\frac{(n-2)!}{2\pi^n} \cdot \frac{1}{|\zeta - z|^{2n-2}},$$

then formula (2.1) can be written by the following way.

COROLLARY 4.1. Let D be a bounded domain with piecewise-smooth boundary, and let F be a harmonic function in D of class $C^1(\overline{D})$. Then

$$\int_{\partial D} F(\zeta)U(\zeta,z) - \int_{\partial D} \tilde{g}(\zeta,z)\overline{\partial}_n F(\zeta)d\sigma = \begin{cases} F(z), & \text{if } z \in D, \\ 0, & \text{if } z \notin \overline{D}. \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

We consider the following problem ($\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem for functions): for given function φ on ∂D , find a function F on \overline{D} such that

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}_n F = \varphi & \text{on } \partial D, \\ \Box F = 0 & \text{in } D. \end{cases}$$
 (4.3)

This problem is an exact analogue of the usual Neumann problem for harmonic functions.

Just as for the usual Neumann problem, the problem (4.3) is not always solvable. There is a necessary orthogonality condition. Indeed, if F is a harmonic function of class $C^1(\overline{D})$, then $*\overline{\partial}F$ is a ∂ -closed form in D, since

$$0 = \Box F = \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} F = - * \partial (* \overline{\partial} F),$$

that is, $\partial(*\overline{\partial}F) = 0$. Hence, if $\varphi = \overline{\partial}_n F$ on ∂D , and f is a holomorphic function on \overline{D} , then

$$\int_{\partial D} \varphi \overline{f} \, d\sigma = \int_{\partial D} \overline{f} (*\overline{\partial} F) = \int_{D} \partial (\overline{f} * \overline{\partial} F) = \int_{D} \overline{f} \partial (*\overline{\partial} F) = 0.$$

Thus, a necessary condition for solvability of (4.3) is the orthogonality condition

$$\int_{D} \varphi \bar{f} \, d\sigma = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad f \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{D}). \tag{4.4}$$

Compare problem (4.3) with the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem for forms (see [18]): given a form ψ of type (p,q) in D, find a form F for which $\Box F = \psi$

in D, and the normal parts of the forms F and $\overline{\partial}^* F$ are zero on ∂D . If F and ψ are functions, then we need to find a function F such that

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}_n F = 0 & \text{on } \partial D, \\ \Box F = \psi & \text{in } D. \end{cases}$$
 (4.5)

If we do not pay attention to the smoothness of the functions, then (4.3) and (4.5) are equivalent. Indeed, one solution of the second equation in (4.5) is the volume potential F_{ψ} . Subtracting it from the solution of (4.5), we obtain $\Box(F-F_{\psi})=0$, and $\overline{\partial}_n(F-F_{\psi})=\varphi$ on ∂D , that is we have (4.3). Conversely, given (4.3), we take the single-layer potential F_{φ}^{\pm} for φ and extend F_{φ}^{-} into D as a smooth function to obtain that $\overline{\partial}_n(F-F_{\varphi}^++F_{\varphi}^-)=0$ on ∂D , and $\Box(F-F_{\varphi}^++F_{\varphi}^-)=\psi$, that is, we have (4.5).

Problem (4.3) is more natural for studying the boundary properties of holomorphic functions.

The $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem for forms arose in the works of Spencer and then was studied by many authors. An especially large role was played by Kohn.

The following problem is a generalization of (4.3) to differential forms. Suppose φ is a form of type (p, q+1) given on ∂D , where $0 \leqslant q \leqslant n-1$ and $0 \leqslant p \leqslant n$. We wish to find a form α of type (p,q) in D such that

$$\begin{cases} (\overline{\partial}\alpha)_n = \varphi_n & \text{on } \partial D, \\ \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial}\alpha = 0 & \text{in } D. \end{cases}$$
 (4.6)

Here φ_n is a normal part of φ .

When p = q = 0, we obtain (4.3), since if α is a function, then $\Box \alpha = \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} \alpha$, and $(\overline{\partial} \alpha)_n = \overline{\partial}_n \alpha \overline{\partial} \rho / |\overline{\partial} \rho|$.

We first find a necessary condition for solvability of (4.6). We consider the form $*\varphi$, which has type (n-q-1,n-p), and we integrate it against a form $\bar{\beta}$, where β is a form of type (p,q) with smooth in \overline{D} coefficients such that $\bar{\partial}\beta=0$ in \bar{D} :

$$\int_{\partial D} (*\varphi) \wedge \bar{\beta} = \int_{\partial D} (*\overline{\partial}\alpha) \wedge \bar{\beta} = \int_{D} \partial (*\overline{\partial}\alpha \wedge \bar{\beta}) = 0$$

in view of (4.6) and the fact that $\overline{\partial}\beta = 0$. Thus, we find that a necessary condition for solvability of (4.6) is that

$$\int_{\partial D} (*\varphi) \wedge \bar{\beta} = 0 \tag{4.7}$$

for all forms β of type (p,q) with $\overline{\partial}\beta=0$ on \overline{D} and coefficients of class $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{D})$.

5. The Homogeneous $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann Problem

We first consider the homogeneous $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}_n F = 0 & \text{on } \partial D, \\ \Box F = 0 & \text{in } D. \end{cases}$$
 (5.1)

It is clear that holomorphic functions F satisfy (5.1). We will show that the converse is also true. First we reformulate the problem. Recall MF is the Bochner-Martinelli integral (see Sec. 1)

$$MF(z) = \int_{\partial D} F(\zeta)U(\zeta, z), \quad z \notin \partial D.$$

THEOREM 5.1 (Aronov [8], Kytmanov [33]). Let F be a harmonic function in D. The following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. $\overline{\partial}_n F = 0$ on ∂D ;
- 2. $M^+F = F \text{ in } D;$
- 3. $M^-F = 0$ in $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \overline{D}$.

PROOF. We consider only the case that $F \in \mathcal{C}^1(\overline{D})$. Conditions 2 and 3 are equivalent by the jump theorem for the Bochner-Martinelli integral (see Corollary 2.4) and by the uniqueness theorem for harmonic functions.

If $\overline{\partial}_n F = 0$ on ∂D then formula (4.2) gives that $M^+F = F$ in D.

If $M^+F = F$ in D, then $M^-F = 0$ outside \overline{D} . Thus we obtain from (4.2) that

$$\int_{\partial D} \frac{\overline{\partial}_n F(\zeta)}{|\zeta - z|^{2n-2}} d\sigma(\zeta) = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad z \notin \partial D.$$

Applying the theorem of Keldysh-Lavrent'ev (see, for example, [47, p. 418]) on the density of fractions of the form $\frac{1}{|\zeta - z|^{2n-2}}$ in the space $\mathcal{C}(\partial D)$, we obtain that $\overline{\partial}_n F = 0$ on ∂D . \square

THEOREM 5.2 (Folland, Kohn [18]; Aronov, Kytmanov [9]). Let F be a harmonic function in D of class $C^1(\overline{D})$. The following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. $\overline{\partial}_n F = 0$ on ∂D ;
- 2. $M^+F = F \text{ in } D;$
- 3. $M^-F = 0$ in $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \overline{D}$;
- 4. F is holomorphic in D.

PROOF. It is sufficient to prove that condition 1 implies condition 4. Since the form $*\overline{\partial}F$ is ∂ -closed, then

$$0 = \int_{\partial D} \overline{F}(*\overline{\partial}F) = \int_{D} \partial \overline{F} \wedge *\overline{\partial}F$$
$$= 2^{1-n}i^{n} \int_{D} |\overline{\partial}F|^{2} dz \wedge d\overline{z} = 2 \int_{D} |\overline{\partial}F|^{2} dv.$$

Hence $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}_k} = 0$ in D for all $k = 1, \ldots, n$, so $F \in \mathcal{O}(D)$. \square

The conditions 2, 3, 4 are equivalent without requirement that F is harmonic in D.

Let n > 1.

THEOREM 5.3 (Kytmanov [31]). If M^+f is holomorphic in D, $f \in C^1(\partial D)$, and $\partial D \in C^1$ is connected, then the boundary value of M^+f coincides with f.

It is clear that Theorem 5.3 is not true when n=1. Also, it is not true if ∂D is not connected: it suffices to set f=1 on one connected component of ∂D and f=0 on the remaining components.

Theorem 5.2 is proven for continuous functions F by Kytmanov and Aizenberg [37], for integrable functions F by Romanov [65], for distributions by Kytmanov [36, Chapter 4], for hyperfunctions by Kytmanov and Yakimenko [45] (see also [36, Chapter 4]).

Consider homogeneous $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem for differential forms. Let $\partial D \in \mathcal{C}^1$. We wish to find a form γ of type (p,q) in D such that

$$\begin{cases} (\overline{\partial}\gamma)_n = 0 & \text{on } \partial D, \\ \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial}\gamma = 0 & \text{in } D. \end{cases}$$
 (5.2)

Evidently, if γ is $\overline{\partial}$ -closed then γ satisfies condition (5.2).

SECTION 6

THEOREM 5.4 (Kytmanov [36]). If the form γ has coefficients of class $C^2(\overline{D})$ and satisfies condition (5.2) then $\overline{\partial}\gamma = 0$ in D.

PROOF. We may assume that γ is a form of type (0,q). Then from (5.2) $\partial(*\overline{\partial}\gamma) = 0$ in D, and the tangential part of the form $*\overline{\partial}\gamma$ is zero on ∂D . (Hodge operator takes the normal part of γ into the tangential part of $*\gamma$, and conversely).

If $\gamma = \sum_{J}' \gamma_{J}(\zeta) d\overline{\zeta}_{J}$, then the restriction of the form $(*\overline{\partial}\gamma) \wedge \overline{\gamma}_{J} d\zeta_{J} = 0$ on ∂D . Therefore

$$0 = \sum_{J}' \int_{\partial D} (*\overline{\partial}\gamma) \wedge \overline{\gamma}_{J} d\zeta_{J} = \sum_{J}' \int_{D} d((*\overline{\partial}\gamma) \wedge \overline{\gamma}_{J} d\zeta_{J})$$

$$= (-1)^{q+1} \sum_{J}' \int_{D} (*\overline{\partial}\gamma) \wedge \partial \overline{\gamma}_{J} \wedge d\zeta_{J}$$

$$= (-1)^{q+1} \sum_{J}' \int_{D} * \sum_{K}' \sum_{m \notin K} \frac{\partial \gamma}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_{m}} d\overline{\zeta}_{m} \wedge d\overline{\zeta}_{K} \wedge \sum_{k \notin J} \frac{\partial \overline{\gamma}_{J}}{\partial \zeta_{k}} d\zeta_{k} \wedge d\zeta_{J}$$

$$= (-1)^{q+1} 2^{q+1-n} i^{n} \times$$

$$\times \sum_{J}' \int_{D} \sum_{K}' \sum_{m \notin K} \sigma(K, m) \frac{\partial \gamma}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_{m}} d\zeta_{J}[K, m] \wedge d\overline{\zeta} \wedge \sum_{k \notin J} \frac{\partial \overline{\gamma}_{J}}{\partial \zeta_{k}} d\zeta_{k} \wedge d\zeta_{J}$$

$$= (-1)^{(q+1)(n+1)} 2^{q+1-n} i^{n} \sum_{J}' \int_{D} \sum_{K \cup m = I} \int_{J \cup k = I} \sigma(K, m) \frac{\partial \gamma}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_{m}} \sigma(J, k) \frac{\partial \overline{\gamma}_{J}}{\partial \zeta_{k}} d\zeta \wedge d\overline{\zeta}$$

$$= (-1)^{(q+1)(n+1)} 2^{q+1-n} i^{n} \sum_{J}' \int_{D} \sum_{K \cup m = I} \left| \sigma(K, m) \frac{\partial \gamma}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_{m}} \right|^{2} d\zeta \wedge d\overline{\zeta}$$

$$= (-1)^{(q+1)(n+1)} 2^{q+1-n} i^{n} \int_{D} |\overline{\partial}\gamma|^{2} d\zeta \wedge d\overline{\zeta},$$
that is, $\overline{\partial}\gamma = 0$ (here $d\zeta_{m} \wedge d\zeta_{K} \wedge d\zeta_{I}[K, m] = \sigma(K, m) d\zeta$). \square

6. Solvability of the $\bar{\partial}$ -Neumann Problem

We now turn to solvability of the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem (4.3). Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n with $\partial D \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}$. We consider the Sobolev space $\mathcal{W}_2^s = \mathcal{W}_2^s(D)$, where s is a natural number. This space consists of the functions $f \in \mathcal{L}^2(D)$ such that all derivatives $\partial^{\alpha} f$ through order s lie in $\mathcal{L}^2(D)$. The topology in \mathcal{W}_2^s is usual. We will need the space $\mathcal{W}_2^{s+\lambda}(\partial D)$

for $0 < \lambda < 1$. It consists of the functions $f \in \mathcal{W}_2^s(\partial D)$ for which the integral

$$\int_{\partial D} \int_{\partial D} \sum_{\|\alpha\|=s} \frac{|\partial^{\alpha} f(z) - \partial^{\alpha} f(\zeta)|^{2}}{|\zeta - z|^{2n+2\lambda-1}} dv_{\zeta} dv_{z}$$

converges.

Properties of these spaces may be found, for example, in the survey [17]. We will need the following properties.

1. When $s \ge 1$, the restriction of a function $f \in \mathcal{W}_2^s(D)$ to ∂D lies in the space $f \in \mathcal{W}_2^{s-1/2}(\partial D)$, and the restriction operator is continuous.

2. If we denote the subspace of harmonic functions in $\mathcal{W}_2^s(D)$ by $\mathcal{G}_2^s = \mathcal{G}_2^s(D)$, then the restriction operator from \mathcal{G}_2^s to $\mathcal{W}_2^{s-1/2}(\partial D)$ is a linear topological isomorphism. Then $\mathcal{W}_2^s = \mathcal{G}_2^s \oplus \mathcal{N}_2^s$, where \mathcal{N}_2^s consists of the functions in \mathcal{W}_2^s that are equal to zero on ∂D .

THEOREM 6.1 (Kytmanov [33, 36]). Suppose D is a strongly pseudo-convex domain. If the function $\varphi \in \mathcal{G}_2^s(D)$, where $s \geq 2$, satisfies condition (4.4), then there exists a harmonic function $F \in \mathcal{W}_2^{s-1}(D)$ (that is $F \in \mathcal{G}_2^{s-1}(D)$) such that $\overline{\partial}_n F = \varphi$ on ∂D , and F may be chosen so that it also satisfies (4.4). The function F defined in this way is unique; we denote it by $N\varphi$; and the Neumann operator N is bounded.

For proof we use the solvability $\overline{\partial}$ -problem in D and $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem for form [18, 28], the solvability of $\overline{\partial}_b$ -problem [11].

The analogous theorem is true for the problem (4.6).

Let $s \ge 1$. If $F \in \mathcal{W}_2^s(D)$ then the Bochner-Martinelli integral $MF \in \mathcal{G}_2^s(D)$. Consider formula (4.2). The first integral in that formula is MF and the second integral we denote $T\overline{\partial}_n F$. Then for $F \in \mathcal{G}_2^s$ and $z \in D$ we have

$$F = MF + T\overline{\partial}_n F = M^2F + MT\overline{\partial}_n F + T\overline{\partial}_n F = \dots = M^k F + \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} M^l T\overline{\partial}_n F.$$

So that, if $\overline{\partial}_n F = \varphi$ then we have

$$F = M^k F + \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} M^l T \varphi. \tag{6.1}$$

Theorem 6.2 (Romanov [65]). For the space $\mathcal{W}_2^1(D)$ we have

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} M^k = P_A, \quad \lim_{k \to \infty} T^k = P_N$$

in the strong operator topology of $W_2^1(D)$, where P_A is a projection from $W_2^1(D)$ onto $A_2^1(D) = W_2^1(D) \cap \mathcal{O}(D)$, and P_N is a projection from $W_2^1(D)$ onto $\mathcal{N}_2^1(D)$.

In the paper [33], Theorem 6.2 was stated for the space $W_2^s(D)$ for $s \ge 1$. Professor Straube gave an example showing that Theorem 6.2 cannot be true for all domains D and all spaces $W_2^s(D)$ (see [36, p. 172]).

EXAMPLE 6.1. Suppose $\lim_{k\to\infty} M^k = P_A$ in the strong operator topology of $\mathcal{W}_2^s(D)$ for all $s \geq 1$. Then $P_A : \mathcal{W}_2^s \to \mathcal{A}_2^s$. Consequently, P_A is a projection operator from \mathcal{W}_2^s onto \mathcal{A}_2^s for all s. This implies that the space $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{D}) \cap \mathcal{O}(D)$ is dense in \mathcal{A}_2^s (since $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{D})$ is dense in \mathcal{W}_2^s , and this property is preserved under application of the operator P_A). But such a density does not hold for every domain D according to an example in [10].

PROBLEM 6.1. For which domains D Theorem 6.2 is true for all spaces $W_2^s(D)$?

As long as it has a positive answer in the ball in \mathbb{C}^n (see Sec. 7). So (6.1) and Theorem 6.2 imply

COROLLARY 6.1. Let D be a strongly pseudoconvex domain. Suppose (4.4) holds for a function $\varphi \in \mathcal{G}_2^2(D)$. A solution to the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem is given by the series

$$F = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} M^l T \varphi, \tag{6.2}$$

which converges to F in the metric of $\mathcal{G}_2^1(D)$.

COROLLARY 6.2. If D is an arbitrary domain (with boundary of class C^{∞}). Suppose the series (6.2) converges in $\mathcal{G}_2^1(D)$ for a function $\varphi \in \mathcal{G}_2^2(D)$, then it determines a solution F of the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem (4.3).

7. The Bochner-Martinelli Integral in the Ball

Let B = B(0,1) be the unit ball in \mathbb{C}^n with center at the origin, and let S = S(0,1) be its boundary. We consider in this section the scalar

product (f,g) of two functions f and g in $\mathcal{L}^2(S)$ is given by the integral $(f,g) = \int_S f \bar{g} d\sigma$.

We will identify the space $\mathcal{L}^2(S)$ with the space of harmonic extensions of such functions from S into B, that is, with the space of harmonic functions f in B for which

$$\sup_{0 \leqslant r < 1} \int_{S} |f(rz)|^{2} d\sigma(z) < \infty.$$

Recall that the Poisson kernel $P(\zeta, z)$ for the ball B has the form

$$P(\zeta, z) = \frac{(n-1)!}{2\pi^n} \cdot \frac{1-|z|^2}{|\zeta-z|^{2n}}, \quad z \in B, \quad \zeta \in S.$$

LEMMA 7.1. The restriction of the kernel $U(\zeta, z)$ to S equals

$$\frac{1 - \langle \zeta, \bar{z} \rangle}{1 - |z|^2} P(\zeta, z) \, d\sigma, \quad z \in B, \quad \zeta \in S.$$

PROOF. It is not difficult to show (using (4.1)) that

$$U(\zeta,z)|_{S} = \frac{(n-1)!}{2\pi^{n}} \frac{1 - \langle \zeta, \bar{z} \rangle}{|\zeta - z|^{2n}} d\sigma. \quad \Box$$

Let $P_{k,s}(z)$ be a harmonic polynomial, homogeneous of degree k in z and degree s in \bar{z} of the form

$$P_{k,s}(z) = \sum_{\|\alpha\|=k} \sum_{\|\beta\|=s} a_{\alpha,\beta} z^{\alpha} \bar{z}^{\beta},$$

where $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n)$, $\beta = (\beta_1, \dots, \beta_n)$ multi-indices, $z^{\alpha} = z_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots z_n^{\alpha_n}$ and \bar{z}^{β} are monomials, and $\|\alpha\| = \alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_n$.

We denote the set of the homogeneous harmonic polynomials $P_{k,s}$ by $\mathcal{P}_{k,s}$. It is known (see, for example, [67, Chapter 12]) that

$$\mathcal{L}^2(S) = \bigoplus_{k,s=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{P}_{k,s}.$$
 (7.1)

We are interesting in the operator giving the Bochner-Martinelli integral Mf for $f \in \mathcal{L}^2(S)$.

LEMMA 7.2. If $P_{k,s} \in \mathcal{P}_{k,s}$, then

$$MP_{k,s} = \frac{n+k-1}{n+k+s-1} P_{k,s}.$$

SECTION 7

PROOF. It is not difficult to check that the harmonic extension of the polynomial $\zeta_i P_{k,s}$ from S to B is given by formula

$$f(\zeta) = \zeta_j P_{k,s} + \frac{1 - |\zeta|^2}{n + k + s - 1} \frac{\partial P_{k,s}}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_i}, \quad \zeta \in \overline{B}.$$

By Lemma 7.1,

$$MP_{k,s} = \int_{S} P_{k,s}(\zeta) \frac{1 - \langle \zeta, \bar{z} \rangle}{1 - |z|^{2}} P(\zeta, z) d\sigma$$

$$= \frac{P_{k,s}(z)}{1 - |z|^{2}} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\bar{z}_{j}}{1 - |z|^{2}} \left(z_{j} P_{k,s} + \frac{1 - |z|^{2}}{n + k + s - 1} \frac{\partial P_{k,s}}{\partial \bar{z}_{j}} \right)$$

$$= P_{k,s}(z) - \frac{s}{n + k + s - 1} P_{k,s}(z) = \frac{n + k - 1}{n + k + s - 1} P_{k,s}(z). \quad \Box$$

THEOREM 7.1 (Romanov [64]). When n > 1, the operator M is a bounded self-adjoint operator $\mathcal{L}^2(S) \to \mathcal{L}^2(S)$ with ||M|| = 1. Every rational number in the interval (0,1] is an eigenvalue of M of infinite multiplicity. The spectrum of M coincides with the interval [0,1].

PROOF. The proof follows from Lemma 7.2. \Box

For n = 1 Mf is the Cauchy integral and it has only two eigenvalues: 0 and 1. Thus, the operator M is essentially different when n = 1 and n > 1.

THEOREM 7.2 (Romanov [64]). Suppose n > 1, and let P_A be the operator of projection from $\mathcal{L}^2(S)$ onto the subspace of holomorphic functions in $\mathcal{L}^2(S)$. Then $M^k \to P_A$ as $k \to \infty$ in the strong operator topology of $\mathcal{L}^2(S)$.

Theorems 7.1 and 7.2 also true for the space $\mathcal{W}_2^s(S)$ for any s since the decomposition (7.1) is valid for this space.

PROBLEM 7.1. Prove Theorem 7.2 for the space $\mathcal{L}^p(S)$ for 1 .

It is known that for this case if $f \in \mathcal{L}^p(S)$ then $Mf \in \mathcal{L}^p(S)$ (see [70]). But $||M||_{\mathcal{L}^p} \to \infty$ as $p \to \infty$ or $p \to 1$.

In the ball it is possible to give the integral representation for solution of $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem.

THEOREM 7.3 (Kytmanov [33]). Suppose n > 1 and $\varphi \in \mathcal{W}_2^s(S)$ satisfies (4.4). Then $N\varphi \in \mathcal{W}_2^s(S)$, and

$$(N\varphi)(z) = \int_{S} \varphi(\zeta)K(\zeta, z) d\sigma(\zeta) \quad z \in B,$$

where

$$K(\zeta, z) = \frac{(n-1)!}{2\pi^n} \left[\frac{1}{n-1} \cdot \frac{1}{|\zeta - z|^{2n-2}} - \frac{1}{n-1} \cdot \frac{1}{(1 - \langle \bar{\zeta}, z \rangle)^{n-1}} + \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{j=0}^{n-2} \frac{n-1-(j+1)\langle \bar{z}, \zeta \rangle}{(j+1)|\zeta - z|^{2(j+1)}(1 - \langle \bar{\zeta}, z \rangle)^{n-j-1}} - \frac{1}{(1 - \langle \bar{\zeta}, z \rangle)^n} \sum_{j=0}^{n-2} \frac{1}{j+1} - \frac{1}{(1 - \langle \bar{\zeta}, z \rangle)^n} \ln \frac{|\zeta - z|^2}{1 - \langle \bar{\zeta}, z \rangle} \right].$$

8. Generalizations of the $\bar{\partial}$ -Neumann Problem

As before, suppose D is a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n with smooth boundary ∂D , and $D = \{z : \rho(z) < 0\}$ with defining function ρ .

Consider the following elliptic equation $(f \in C^2(\overline{D}))$:

$$L(f) = \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_j} \left(a_{j,k}(z) \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_k} \right) = 0, \tag{8.1}$$

where the matrix $A = ||a_{j,k}(z)||_{j,k=1}^n$ is Hermitian and positive definite on \overline{D} , and $a_{j,k} \in C^1(\overline{D})$, $j, k = 1, \ldots n$.

THEOREM 8.1 (Kytmanov [36]). If the following boundary condition holds for a function $f \in C^2(\overline{D})$:

$$\sum_{j,k} a_{j,k}(z) \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_k} \rho_j(z) = 0 \quad on \quad \partial D,$$

and if f satisfies (8.1) in D, then f is holomorphic in D.

This theorem generalizes items 1 and 4 of Theorem 5.2. PROOF. Consider the differential form

$$\omega_f = \sum_{j,k} a_{j,k} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_k} (-1)^{j-1} dz[j] \wedge d\bar{z}.$$

The restriction of ω_f to ∂D equals zero by the hypothesis of the theorem. By Stokes's formula

$$0 = \int_{\partial D} \bar{f} \omega_{f} = \int_{D} \bar{f} d\omega_{f} + \int_{D} d\bar{f} \wedge \omega_{f}$$

$$= \int_{D} \bar{f} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{j}} \left(a_{j,k}(z) \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_{k}} \right) dz \wedge d\bar{z} + \int_{D} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} a_{j,k}(z) \frac{\partial \bar{f}}{\partial z_{j}} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_{k}} dz \wedge d\bar{z}$$

$$= \int_{D} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} a_{j,k}(z) \frac{\partial \bar{f}}{\partial z_{j}} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_{k}} dz \wedge d\bar{z};$$

since the hermitian matrix A is positive definite, it follows from this that

$$\sum_{j,k=1}^{n} a_{j,k}(z) \frac{\overline{\partial f}}{\partial \bar{z}_j} \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_k} = 0$$

in D, and hence $\frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_j} = 0$, $j = 1, \ldots, n$, that is, $f \in \mathcal{O}(D)$. \square

We remark that the vector field

$$w = \sum_{j,k} \bar{a}_{j,k} \bar{\rho}_j \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$$

does not lie in the complex tangent space $T_z^c(\partial D)$, since

$$w(\rho) = \sum_{j,k} \bar{a}_{j,k} \bar{\rho}_j \rho_k |\partial \rho|^{-1} > 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial D.$$

PROBLEM 8.1. Prove Theorem 8.1 for another classes of functions f (continuous, integrable, etc.).

Consider the next problem:

PROBLEM 8.2. For a function φ given on ∂D find a function F on ∂D such that

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} a_{j,k}(z) \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}_k} \rho_j(z) = \varphi & on \quad \partial D, \\ L(F) = 0 & in \quad D. \end{cases}$$
(8.2)

This problem is generalization of the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem (4.3) for functions and Theorem 8.1 gives the solution of homogeneous Problem 8.2.

A necessary condition for solvability of Problem 8.2 is that φ be orthogonal to the holomorphic functions. Indeed, if $f \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$, then

$$\int_{\partial D} \varphi \bar{f} d\sigma = \int_{\partial D} \bar{f} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} a_{j,k}(z) \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}_{k}} \rho_{j}(z) d\sigma$$

$$= C \int_{\partial D} \bar{f} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} a_{j,k}(z) (-1)^{j-1} \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}_k} dz[j] \wedge d\bar{z}$$

$$=C\int_{D} \bar{f}\partial\left(\sum_{j,k=1}^{n} a_{j,k}(z)(-1)^{j-1} \frac{\partial F}{\partial \bar{z}_{k}} dz[j] \wedge d\bar{z}\right) = C\int_{D} \bar{f}LF \, dz \wedge d\bar{z} = 0.$$

Apparently this condition is also sufficient (for strongly pseudoconvex domains).

PROBLEM 8.3. Give an integral representation for solution of Problem 8.2 in the ball.

Consider the following problem. Suppose given a vector field $w = w(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} w_k(z) \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$, $w_k \in \mathcal{C}(\partial D)$, such that

$$w(\rho) = \sum_{k=1} w_k(z) \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial z_k} \neq 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial D,$$
 (8.3)

that is, for every point $z \in \partial D$ the vector w does not lie in the complex tangent space $T_z^c(\partial D)$.

PROBLEM 8.4. Suppose $f \in C^1(\overline{D})$ and f is harmonic in D. If

$$\bar{w}(f) = \sum_{k=1} \bar{w}_k \frac{\partial f}{\partial \bar{z}_k} = 0 \quad on \quad \partial D,$$
 (8.4)

will f be holomorphic in D?

In contrast to the tangential Cauchy-Riemann conditions, here we require the vanishing of the action of a nontangential vector field \bar{w} on f. Problem 8.4 is an analogue of the oblique derivative problem for real-valued harmonic functions.

SECTION 8

If (8.3) does not hold, then it is easy to give an example where (8.4) holds for a function f that is not holomorphic in D. It is enough to consider the ball B(0,1) in \mathbb{C}^2 and the function $f=\bar{z}_1$, with $w=\partial/\partial z_2$. Therefore inequality (8.3) is violated on the circle $\{z \in \mathbb{C}^2 : |z|=1, z_2=0\}$.

If $w = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \bar{\rho}_k \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$, then Problem 8.4 becomes the homogeneous $\bar{\partial}$ -Neumann problem (5.1).

We give a number of equivalent formulations of Problem 8.4. We decompose the field w into a normal and a tangential component:

$$w(z) = \alpha(z) \sum_{k=1}^{n} \bar{\rho}_k \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} + b(z).$$

By hypothesis, $\alpha \neq 0$ on ∂D . The vector field $b(z) \in T_z^c(\partial D)$. As generators of the space $T_z^c(\partial D)$, we may take the vectors

$$\rho_m \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} - \rho_k \frac{\partial}{\partial z_m}, \quad k \neq m, \quad k, m = 1, \dots, n.$$

By decomposing b(z) in terms of these vectors, it is easy to obtain from (8.4) the equality

$$\overline{\partial}_n f = \sum_{k > m} \alpha_{m,k}(z) \left[\overline{\rho}_m \frac{\partial f}{\partial \overline{z}_k} - \overline{\rho}_k \frac{\partial f}{\partial \overline{z}_m} \right],$$

where $\alpha_{k,m}(z)$ are certain continuous functions on ∂D . Multiplying both sides of this equality by $d\sigma$ and applying equality (4.1), we obtain

$$\mu_f|_{\partial D} = \sum_{k>m} a_{k,m}(z) \, df \wedge d\bar{z}[k,m] \wedge dz|_{\partial D}. \tag{8.5}$$

PROBLEM 8.5. If $f \in C^1(\overline{D})$ is harmonic in D, and $a_{k,m} \in C(\partial D)$ for k, m = 1, ..., n does (8.5) imply that f is holomorphic in D?

When n = 2, then (8.5) can be rewritten in the form

$$\mu_f|_{\partial D} = a(z) \, df \wedge dz|_{\partial D}. \tag{8.6}$$

THEOREM 8.2 (Kytmanov, Yakiminko [46]). Suppose $D \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ is simply connected domain, harmonic function $f \in C^1(\overline{D})$ satisfies condition (8.6), and $\operatorname{Re} a \neq k \operatorname{Im} a$ on ∂D for some real constant k, then f is holomorphic in D.

For n > 2 Problem 8.5 have been solved only for the ball and for holomorphic functions $a_{k,m}(z)$ (see [36, Chapter 5]).

Suppose given a function φ on ∂D .

PROBLEM 8.6. Find a harmonic function F in D such that $w(F) = \varphi$ on ∂D .

This problem is analogous to the oblique derivative problem for real-valued harmonic functions. What is required is to determine necessary conditions for solvability of Problem 8.6 and to construct a solution of this problem given by an integral representation, for example, in the ball.

9. Functions Representable by the Integral Formulas

Suppose n > 1. We rewrite (8.5) in integral form by multiplying (8.5) by the fundamental solution $g(\zeta, z)$ of Laplace's equation and integrating over ∂D . We obtain

$$\int_{\partial D} g(\zeta, z) \mu_f(\zeta) = \int_{\partial D} g(\zeta, z) \sum_{k > m} a_{k,m}(\zeta) df \wedge d\bar{\zeta}[k, m] \wedge d\zeta, \quad z \notin \partial D.$$

Using Green's formula (2.1) and Stokes's formula, we get

$$f(z) = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) \left[U(\zeta, z) + \sum_{k > m} d(ga_{k,m}) \wedge d\bar{\zeta}[k, m] \wedge d\zeta \right], \ z \in D. \quad (9.1)$$

PROBLEM 9.1. If $f \in C(\overline{D})$ and harmonic in D, and $a_{k,m} \in C^1(\partial D)$, does (9.1) imply the holomorphicity of f in D?

When $a_{k,m}=0$, we obtain the problem about functions representable by the Bochner-Martinelli integral. If $f \in \mathcal{A}(D)$, then (9.1) is an integral representation of f, since the component $d(ga_{k,m}) \wedge d\bar{\zeta}[k,m] \wedge d\zeta$ is a $\bar{\partial}$ -exact form.

More general there is a problem on functions representable by the Cauchy-Fantappiè formula (2.5). Consider for a domain D continuously differentiable (in ζ) vector function $\eta = \eta(\zeta, z) = (\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_n), \zeta \in \partial D$, $z \in D$, such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \eta_k(\zeta, z)(\zeta_k - z_k) = 1 \quad \text{for} \quad \zeta \in \partial D, \quad z \in D.$$

SECTION 9

Then $\omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta$ is the Cauchy-Fantappiè kernel. Concerning formula (2.5), we can pose a problem analogous to the problem for the Bochner-Martinelli integral: namely, if (2.5) holds for $f \in \mathcal{C}(\overline{D})$, will f be holomorphic in D?

If the functions η_k depend holomorphically on z (for example, in the case of the Khenkin-Ramirez kernel, or convex domains), then the answer is obvious. If the η_k are arbitrary, then it is easy to give an example where the answer to this question is negative. Let $P(\zeta, z)$ be the Poisson kernel for unit ball (see Sec. 7). As Dautov showed (see Sec. 10), the kernel $P(\zeta, z)$ is a Cauchy-Fantappiè kernel for n = 2. But (2.5) holds with the kernel $P(\zeta, z)$ for all harmonic functions. Therefore our questions must be formulated as follows.

PROBLEM 9.2. For which Cauchy-Fantappiè kernels $\omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta$ does the equality (2.5) for a function $f \in \mathcal{C}(\overline{D})$ imply that $f \in \mathcal{A}(D)$?

One class of Cauchy-Fantappiè kernels can be specified in the following way. The kernel $\omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta$ has the form

$$\omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta = \sum_{k=1} \delta_k(\zeta, z) d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta.$$

THEOREM 9.1 (Kytmanov [36]). Let

$$\delta_k(\zeta, z) = (-1)^{k-1} h_k(\zeta) \frac{\partial h(\zeta, z)}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_k}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$

for $\zeta \in D$ and $z \in D$, $\zeta \neq z$, where h and $\partial h(\zeta, z)/\partial \overline{\zeta}_k$ are integrable functions on \overline{D} , and $h_k \in \mathcal{C}(\overline{D})$, $h_k > 0$ in \overline{D} . If (2.5) holds for a function $f \in \mathcal{C}^1(\overline{D})$, then f is holomorphic in D.

The second class of the Cauchy-Fantappiè kernels defines by the vector function η such that

$$\eta_k(\zeta, z) = \frac{|\zeta_k - z_k|^{2\alpha_k - 2}(\bar{\zeta}_k - \bar{z}_k)}{\sum\limits_{m = 1}^{n} |\zeta_m - z_m|^{2\alpha_m}},$$

where $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{N}, k = 1, \ldots, n$. The kernel $\omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta$ has the following form

$$U_{\alpha}(\zeta,z) = \omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta = \frac{(n-1)!}{(2\pi i)^n} \prod_{j=1}^n \alpha_j |\zeta_j - z_j|^{2\alpha_j - 2} \times$$

$$\times \sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\bar{\zeta}_k - \bar{z}_k}{\alpha_k \left(\sum_{m=1}^{n} |\zeta_m - z_m|^{2\alpha_m}\right)^n} d\bar{\zeta}[k] \wedge d\zeta.$$

For $\alpha_1 = \cdots = \alpha_n = 1$, we have that $U_{\alpha}(\zeta, z) = U(\zeta, z)$ the Bochner-Martinelli kernel. For $\alpha_k \neq 1$ this kernel is the $\overline{\partial}$ -closed differential form with real-analytic (not harmonic) coefficients.

THEOREM 9.2 (Kytmanov, Myslivets [39, 41]). If for the function $f \in C^{\lambda}(\partial D)$ ($\lambda > 0$) the Cauchy-Fantappiè integral

$$F(z) = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) U_{\alpha}(\zeta, z)$$

gives a continuous extension F of f into D, then the function F is holomorphic in D.

For proof of this theorem we need the jump theorem and maximum modulus theorem for the Cauchy-Fantappiè integral F, the Cauchy-Fantappiè formula for smooth functions and so on.

10. The General Form of Integral Representations of Holomorphic Functions

The $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem is closely related to that of describing the general form of integral representations. By an *integral representation of holomorphic functions* we means a formula of the type

$$f(z) = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) \mu_z(\zeta), \qquad (10.1)$$

valid for all $z \in D$ and all $f \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$. Here D is a bounded domain with smooth boundary, and $\mu_z(\zeta)$ is a differential form of type 2n-1 with continuous on ∂D coefficients for any fixed $z \in D$. A form $\mu_z(\zeta)$ satisfying (10.1) will be called a reproducing kernel.

Any reproducing kernel can be obtained from a fixed one (for example, from the Bochner-Martinelli kernel) by the addition of forms orthogonal to holomorphic functions (of type (4.4)), and conversely, every form which is orthogonal to holomorphic functions can be obtained as the difference between a fixed reproducing kernel and another suitable one.

Observe that, if a reproducing kernel is multiplied by a function $\varphi_z(\zeta)$, $\zeta \in \overline{D}$, $z \in D$, satisfying

$$\varphi_z(\zeta) \in \mathcal{A}(D), \quad \varphi_z(z) \equiv 1, \quad z \in D,$$
 (10.2)

then we again get a reproducing kernel. Indeed, suppose $\mu_z(\zeta)$ satisfies (10.1). Then

$$\int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) \varphi_z(\zeta) \mu_z(\zeta) = f(z) \varphi_z(z) = f(z).$$

It must be noted that the class of kernels of the form $\varphi_z(\zeta)\omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta$ is invariant under biholomorphic mappings ([3]), though it is not known whether a similar assertion holds with regard to the Cauchy-Fantappiè kernel $\omega'(\eta) \wedge d\zeta$.

For n=1, the Cauchy-Fantappiè kernel goes over into the Cauchy integral formula

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial D} \frac{f(\zeta) d\zeta}{\zeta - z}, \quad z \in D.$$

THEOREM 10.1 (Aizenberg [3]). Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^1 with smooth boundary, and $\mu_z(\zeta)$ a continuous reproducing kernel. Then

$$\mu_z(\zeta) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \cdot \frac{\varphi_z(\zeta) \, d\zeta}{\zeta - z},$$

for some $\varphi_z(\zeta)$ satisfying (10.2).

28

PROOF. Since $d\zeta$ is non-degenerate on ∂D and continuous, we have

$$\mu_z(\zeta) = g_z(\zeta) d\zeta,$$

where $g_z \in \mathcal{C}(\partial D)$ for fixed $z \in D$.

Consider the function

$$h_z(\zeta) = g_z(\zeta) - \frac{1}{2\pi i(\zeta - z)}.$$

For every $f \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$, we have

$$\int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) h_z(\zeta) d\zeta = 0.$$

It is well-known that h_z can be extended to D, to each fixed $z \in D$, as a function in $\mathcal{A}(D)$. Set

$$\varphi_z(\zeta) = 1 + 2\pi i(\zeta - z)h_z(\zeta).$$

THEOREM 10.2 (Dautov [4, 15]). Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^2 with boundary of class C^{∞} . Suppose $\mu_z(\zeta)$ is a reproducing kernel with coefficients of class C^{∞} . In order that each reproducing kernel $\mu_z(\zeta)$ be a Cauchy-Fantappiè kernel, it is necessary and sufficient that D be a domain of holomorphy.

For n > 2, no such description of reproducing kernels has been obtained. It is known (Dautov [4, §13]) that in strongly pseudoconvex domains D any reproducing kernel is the linear combination of the Cauchy-Fantappiè kernels.

PROBLEM 10.1. Prove (or disprove) the sufficiency or necessity in Theorem 10.2 when n > 2.

Theorem 6.1 shows that in strongly pseudoconvex domains D, every reproducing kernel $\mu_z(\zeta)$ has the form

$$\mu_z(\zeta) = U(\zeta, z) + *\partial h_z(\zeta),$$

where $h_z(\zeta)$ is a harmonic function in D of class $C^{\infty}(\overline{D})$.

11. The Functions Representable by Logarithmic Residue Formula

Consider one more class of reproducing kernels, so called logarithmic differentials. Let $\psi(\zeta) = (\psi_1(\zeta), \dots, \psi_n(\zeta))$ be a holomorphic mapping such that ψ_j are entire functions in \mathbb{C}^n , $j = 1, \dots, n$. Suppose $\psi(\zeta) = 0$ if and only if $\zeta = 0$. We denote the multiplicity of zero at $\zeta = 0$ by μ .

If we denote U(w) = U(w, 0) then

$$U(\psi(\zeta-z)) = \frac{(n-1)!}{(2\pi i)^n} \sum_{k=1}^n (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\overline{\psi_k(\zeta-z)}}{|\psi(\zeta-z)|^{2n}} \overline{\partial}_{\zeta} \overline{\psi(\zeta-z)}[k] \wedge \partial_{\zeta} \psi(\zeta-z).$$

In this formula the point z is fixed. The kernel $U(\psi(\zeta - z))$ is $\overline{\partial}$ -closed differential form of the type (n, n-1) with real-analytic coefficients and with the point singularity $\zeta = z$.

If D is a bounded domain with smooth boundary and function $f \in \mathcal{A}(D)$, then

$$\mu f(z) = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) U(\psi(\zeta - z)), \quad z \in D.$$
 (11.1)

Formula (11.1) is the partial case of the *logarithmic residue formula* proved by Yuzhakov [81] and Roos [66] (see also [7]).

So, $\frac{1}{\mu}U(\psi(\zeta-z))$ is a reproducing kernel.

If $\psi_j(\zeta) = \zeta_j^{\alpha_j}$ then $\frac{1}{\mu}U(\psi(\zeta-z)) = U_\alpha(\zeta,z)$, where $U_\alpha(\zeta,z)$ was defined in Sec. 9 and $\mu = \alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_n$.

THEOREM 11.1 (Kytmanov, Myslivets [40]). If ∂D is connected and for $f \in C^1(\overline{D})$ formula (11.1) holds then f is holomorphic in D.

Scheme of the proof. First of all we have to proof the analogue of the Bochner-Martinelli formula for smooth functions (see (2.2)):

If a function $f \in \mathcal{C}^1(\overline{D})$ then

$$\int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) U(\psi(\zeta - z)) - \int_{D} \overline{\partial} f(\zeta) \wedge U(\psi(\zeta - z)) = \begin{cases} \mu f(z), & z \in D, \\ 0, & z \notin \overline{D}, \end{cases}$$

the second integral converges absolutely for $z \in D$.

As a corollary we get a jump theorem for the integral

$$Lf(z) = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta)U(\psi(\zeta - z)), \quad z \notin \partial D.$$

Namely, the integral Lf has the continuous extension on ∂D from the inside D and from the outside D, and

$$L^+(z) - L^-(z) = \mu f(z), \quad z \in \partial D.$$

The second step is the following:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_i} U(\psi(\zeta - z)) = \overline{\partial}_{\zeta} U_j(\zeta, z),$$

moreover, $U_j(\zeta, z)$ is a (n, n-2)-differential form with real-analytic coefficients and with the point singularity $\zeta = z$. From here we get

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}_j} Lf = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) \overline{\partial}_{\zeta} U_j(\zeta, z) = \sum_{s=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial z_s} \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) \overline{\partial}_{\zeta} U_{js}(\zeta, z)$$

for some (n, n-2)-differential forms U_{js} with real-analytic coefficients and with the point singularity $\zeta = z$.

If we denote

$$\beta_{js}(z) = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) \overline{\partial}_{\zeta} U_{js}(\zeta, z), \quad z \notin \partial D,$$

then from conditions of theorem and from jump formula we have that differential form

$$\beta_j = \sum_{s=1}^n (-1)^{s-1} \beta_{js}(z) dz[s] \wedge d\bar{z}$$

is ∂ -closed outside \overline{D} .

We solve the equation $\beta_j = \partial \alpha_j$ outside \overline{D} and prove then this equality is true into D. From here we get then Lf is holomorphic in D. \square

PROBLEM 11.1. Prove Theorem 11.1 for continuous functions f (and for other classes of functions).

12. Functions with the Property of One-dimensional Holomorphic Continuation along Complex Lines

Consider complex lines $l_{z,b}$ of the form

$$l_{z,b} = \{ \zeta : \zeta_k = z_k + tb_k, k = 1, \dots, n, t \in \mathbb{C} \}.$$

The point $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$ and the point $b \in \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$ (b is defined to within of multiplication on a complex number $\lambda \neq 0$).

We write the Bochner-Martinelli kernel $U(\zeta, z)$ in variables t and b. We have $|\zeta - z|^2 = |t|^2 |b|^2$. Then

$$d\zeta = d\zeta_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge d\zeta_n = (b_1dt + tdb_1) \wedge \cdots \wedge (b_ndt + tdb_n)$$

$$= t^{n-1} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (-1)^{j-1} b_j dt \wedge db[j],$$

since $db = db_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge db_n = 0$ in \mathbb{CP}^{n-1} .

In exactly the same way

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} (-1)^{k-1} (\bar{\zeta}_k - \bar{z}_k) d\bar{\zeta}[k] = \bar{t}^{n-1} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (-1)^{j-1} \bar{b}_j d\bar{b}[j].$$

From here we have

Lemma 12.1. The Bochner-Martinelli kernel in variables t and b has the form

$$U(\zeta, z) = \frac{dt}{t} \wedge \lambda(b),$$

where

$$\lambda(b) = \frac{(n-1)!(-1)^{n-1}}{(2\pi i)^n} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^n (-1)^{j-1} \bar{b}_j d\bar{b}[j] \wedge \sum_{j=1}^n (-1)^{j-1} b_j db[j]}{|b|^{2n}}.$$

Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n with smooth boundary. Give the following definition (Stout [75]). The function $f \in \mathcal{C}(\partial D)$ has a property of one-dimensional holomorphic continuation along complex lines if for any complex lines $l_{z,b}$ (meeting \overline{D}) there exists a function $F_{z,b}$ with the following properties:

- a) $F_{z,b} \in \mathcal{C}(\overline{D} \cap l_{z,b});$
- b) $F_{z,b} = f$ on the set $\partial D \cap l_{z,b}$;
- c) $F_{z,b}$ is holomorphic in interior (with respect to topology of $l_{z,b}$) points of the set $\overline{D} \cap l_{z,b}$.

THEOREM 12.1 (Stout [75]). If $\partial D \in C^2$ and a function $f \in C(\partial D)$ has a property of one-dimensional holomorphic continuation along all complex lines then f has a holomorphic extension into D as a function of several complex variables.

PROOF. Consider the integral

$$M^-f(z) = \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta)U(\zeta,z), \quad z \notin \overline{D}.$$

The Fubini theorem, Lemma 12.1 and the conditions of the theorem imply

$$M^{-}f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{CP}^{n-1}} \lambda(b) \int_{\partial D \cap l_{z,b}} f(\zeta) \frac{dt}{t} = 0.$$

Applying Theorem 5.2 for continuous functions (see [36, Theorem 15.4]) we have that M^+f gives holomorphic extension of f into D. \square

For the ball Theorem 12.1 was proved in [1, 61].

PROBLEM 12.1 (Stout). Which families \mathcal{L} of the complex lines are sufficient for holomorphic extension?

A family \mathcal{L} is *sufficient* for holomorphic extension if any function $f \in \mathcal{C}(\partial D)$ with a property of one-dimensional holomorphic continuation along complex lines $l_{z,b} \in \mathcal{L}$ has a holomorphic extension into D.

Consider the following family.

Let V be an open set in \mathbb{C}^n . We denote

$$\mathcal{L}_V = \{l_{z,b} : l_{z,b} \cap V \neq \emptyset\}.$$

If ∂D is connected and $V \cap \overline{D} = \emptyset$ then \mathcal{L}_V is sufficient family since in this case $M^-f = 0$ in V then $M^-f = 0$ outside \overline{D} (by uniqueness theorem for harmonic functions).

THEOREM 12.2 (Agranovskiĭ, Semenov [2]). Let ∂D be connected and an open set $V \subset D$. Then \mathcal{L}_V is sufficient family for a holomorphic extension.

PROOF. Consider the integral

$$\int_{\partial D} (\zeta_k - z_k) f(\zeta) U(\zeta, z) = \int_{\mathbb{CP}^{n-1}} \lambda(b) \int_{\partial D \cap l_{z,b}} f(\zeta) dt = 0, \quad z \in V.$$

Then this integral vanishes into D. Apply to this integral the Laplace operator:

$$\Delta \int_{\partial D} \zeta_k f(\zeta) U(\zeta, z) = \Delta \left(z_k \int_{\partial D} f(\zeta) U(\zeta, z) \right).$$

From here

$$0 = \frac{\partial M^+ f}{\partial \bar{z}_k}, \quad z \in D.$$

Then M^+f is a holomorphic function in D. Applying Theorem 5.3 for continuous functions (see [36, Corollary 15.6]) we have that M^+f gives holomorphic continuation of f into D. \square

The proof of this theorem shows that holomorphic extension of f into D is possible under more weak limitations on f, so-called Morera conditions.

THEOREM 12.3 (Globevnik and Stout [19]). Let n > 1, and let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n with connected, smooth (of class \mathcal{C}^2) boundary. If a function $f \in \mathcal{C}(\partial D)$ and for almost all $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$, for almost all $b \in \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$

$$\int_{\partial D \cap l_{z,b}} f(\zeta)dt = 0,$$

then the function f has a holomorphic continuation into D.

PROOF is the same as for Theorem 12.2.

Some modification of this proof shows that it is true the next assertion.

THEOREM 12.4 (Kytmanov, Myslivets [38, 41]). Under conditions of Theorem 12.3 for a fixed nonnegative integer k the integral

$$\int_{\partial D \cap l_{z,b}} f(\zeta) t^k dt = 0$$

SECTION 13

for all $l_{z,b}$, then the function f has a holomorphic continuation into D.

Theorems 12.3 and 12.4 are true for the family \mathcal{L}_V for any open set V. Consider two holomorphic mappings $\Phi = (\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n)$ and $\psi = (\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n)$ consisting on entire functions in \mathbb{C}^n , and such that $\Phi(z) = 0$, $\psi(z) = 0$ if and only if z = 0, $(\psi \circ \Phi)(z) = (z_1^{p_1}, \ldots, z_n^{p_n})$ for some $p_j \in \mathbb{N}$, $j = 1, \ldots, n$.

Let

$$m_{z,b} = \{ \zeta : \zeta_j = z_j + \varphi_j(b_1 t^{k_1}, \dots, b_n t^{k_n}), j = 1, \dots, n, t \in \mathbb{C} \}$$

be a complex curve. The points $z \in \mathbb{C}^n$, $b \in \mathbb{CP}^{n-1}$ and $k_j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $k_1p_1 = \cdots = k_np_n$.

THEOREM 12.5 (Myslivets (1999)). If $\partial D \in C^2$ and connected and a function $f \in C(\partial D)$ has a property of one-dimensional holomorphic continuation along all complex curves $m_{z,b}$ then f holomorphically extends into D.

PROOF uses the theorem of type Theorem 11.1 and the representation of a kernel $U(\psi(\zeta - z))$ in variables t and b of the next form

$$U(\psi(\zeta - z)) = \frac{dt}{t} \wedge \gamma(b),$$

where $\gamma(b)$ is a (n-1, n-1)-differential form independent of t.

PROBLEM 12.2. Which families of complex curves $m_{z,b}$ are sufficient for a holomorphic continuation?

13. Holomorphic Extension from a Part of the Boundary

In the next two sections, we assume that the dimension n > 1. We will be interested in two questions:

PROBLEM 13.1. If Γ is the boundary of a bounded domain D, and f is a CR-function on $\Gamma \setminus K$, where K is a compact subset of Γ , what condition must be imposed on K so that f extends into D as a holomorphic function F?

PROBLEM 13.2. Under what conditions on K and f does the extension F have "good" boundary behavior near K? In other words, when does F determine on Γ a CR-function \tilde{f} ? This function also will serve as an extension of f from $\Gamma \setminus K$ to Γ .

Recall a function $f \in \mathcal{C}^1(\Gamma)$ is CR-function if $\bar{w}(f) = 0$ for any vector field $w \in T^c(\Gamma)$. A function $f \in \mathcal{C}(\Gamma)$ (or $f \in \mathcal{L}^1_{loc}(\Gamma)$) is CR-function if

$$\int_{\Gamma} f(\zeta) \overline{\partial} \varphi(\zeta) = 0$$

for any (n, n-2)-differential forms φ with \mathcal{C}^{∞} coefficients and with compact support.

Well-known Hartogs-Bochner theorem says that any CR-function given on connected smooth boundary ∂D of a bounded domain D holomorphically extends into D. G.Lupacciolu considered Problem 13.1 for continuous CR-functions given on the part of a boundary.

Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n such that \overline{D} has a schlicht envelope of holomorphy. For any compact set $K \subset \overline{D}$ we set

$$\widehat{K}_{\overline{D}} = \left\{z \in \overline{D} : |h(z)| \leqslant \max_{K} |h|, h \in \mathcal{O}(\overline{D}) \right\}.$$

We assume that the hypersurface $\Gamma = \partial D \setminus K$ is a smooth (class C^1), connected manifold in $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus K$.

Suppose $K = \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}$; for example, K could be a polynomially convex, or $K = \widehat{K}_{\Omega}$, where \widehat{K}_{Ω} is the envelope of K with respect to $\mathcal{O}(\Omega)$, with Ω an open set containing \overline{D} .

Theorem 13.1 (Lupacciolu [51]). If $K = \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}$, $\Gamma = \partial D \setminus K$, and f is a continuous CR-function on Γ , then there exists a holomorphic function F in $D \setminus K$ continuous up to Γ and such that boundary values of F on Γ coincides with f.

PROOF. First of all we discuss some preliminaries. Let V be an open neighborhood of K in \mathbb{C}^n , and let β be a function of class \mathcal{C}^{∞} in \mathbb{C}^n that is equal to 1 on K, satisfies $0 \leq \beta < 1$ off K, and has compact support in V. For each positive ε , we write $D_{\varepsilon} = D \cap \{z : \beta(z) < 1 - \varepsilon\}$, and $\Gamma_{\varepsilon} = \partial D \cap \{z : \beta(z) < 1 - \varepsilon\}$. By Sard's theorem, the set Γ_{ε} is a smooth manifold with smooth boundary $\partial \Gamma_{\varepsilon}$, for almost all positive ε . Now $D \setminus K = \bigcup_{\varepsilon > 0} D_{\varepsilon}$, and $\Gamma = \partial D \setminus K = \bigcup_{\varepsilon > 0} \Gamma_{\varepsilon}$.

If f is a continuous CR-function on Γ then the approximation Baouendi-Treves theorem shows that for almost all positive ε

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}} f \overline{\partial} \varphi = \int_{\partial \Gamma_{\varepsilon}} f \varphi \tag{13.1}$$

for any (n, n-2)-differential form φ with smooth coefficients and with compact support in $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus K$.

Subsequently we will assume that the sequence $\varepsilon_s \to 0$ is decreasing as $s \to \infty$ and is chosen so that $\partial \Gamma_{\varepsilon_s}$ is a smooth manifold, and (13.1) holds for Γ_{ε_s} . We write $D_{\varepsilon_s} = D_s$ and $\Gamma_{\varepsilon_s} = \Gamma_s$.

Suppose G is an open neighborhood of \overline{D} , and $h \in \mathcal{O}(G)$ (we may assume that G is a domain of holomorphy). For each positive ε , we consider the set

$$G_{arepsilon}(h) = \left\{z \in G: |h(z)| > \max_{\overline{D \setminus D_{arepsilon}}} |h|
ight\}.$$

Then $G_{\varepsilon}(h) \subset G \setminus (\overline{D \setminus D_{\varepsilon}})$, and for every $z \in G_{\varepsilon}(h)$ the level set

$$L_z(h) = \{ \zeta \in G : h(\zeta) = h(z) \} \subset G_{\varepsilon}(h).$$

We write

$$G(h) = \{ z \in G : |h(z)| > \max_{K} |h| \}.$$

Since $K = \bigcap_{\varepsilon>0} \overline{D \setminus D_{\varepsilon}}$, we have $G(h) = \bigcup_{\varepsilon>0} G_{\varepsilon}(h)$. Since $K = \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}$, we have

$$\overline{D} \setminus K \subset \bigcup_{G \supset \overline{D}} \bigcup_{h \in \mathcal{O}(G)} G(h).$$

By Hefer's theorem, for each $h \in \mathcal{O}(G)$ there are holomorphic functions $h_1(\zeta, z), \ldots, h_n(\zeta, z)$ on $G \times G$ such that

$$h(z) - h(\zeta) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} h_k(\zeta, z)(z_k - \zeta_k).$$
 (13.2)

We can explicitly compute a solution of the $\overline{\partial}$ -problem $\overline{\partial}\Phi_h(\zeta) = U(\zeta, z)$ on the set $G \setminus L_z(h)$. Let

$$U_k(\zeta,z) = \frac{(-1)^k (n-2)!}{(\zeta_k - z_k)(2\pi i)^n} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{k-1} (-1)^j \frac{\bar{\zeta}_j - \bar{z}_j}{|\zeta - z|^{2n-2}} d\bar{\zeta}[j,k] \right] + \sum_{j=k+1}^n (-1)^{j-1} \frac{\bar{\zeta}_j - \bar{z}_j}{|\zeta - z|^{2n-2}} d\bar{\zeta}[k,j] \wedge d\zeta.$$

(The forms $U_k(\zeta, z)$ were first considered by Martinelli [59] in the proof of the Hartogs extension theorem.)

LEMMA 13.1. Set

$$\Phi_h(\zeta) = \frac{1}{h(\zeta) - h(z)} \sum_{k=1}^n h_k(\zeta, z) (\zeta_k - z_k) U_k(\zeta, z).$$

Then $\Phi_h(\zeta)$ is defined in $G \setminus L_z(h)$, and $\overline{\partial}_{\zeta} \Phi_h(\zeta) = U(\zeta, z)$.

PROOF. It easy to check that $\overline{\partial}_{\zeta}U_k(\zeta,z)=U(\zeta,z)$ outside $L_z(\zeta_k)$. Therefore

$$\overline{\partial}\Phi_h(\zeta) = \frac{1}{h(\zeta) - h(z)} \sum_{k=1}^n h_k(\zeta, z) \overline{\partial}_{\zeta} U_k(\zeta, z)$$
$$= \frac{1}{h(\zeta) - h(z)} \sum_{k=1}^n h_k(\zeta, z) (\zeta_k - z_k) U(\zeta, z) = U(\zeta, z)$$

by (13.2). \Box

Now suppose that G and G' are open sets in \mathbb{C}^n with nontrivial intersection, $h \in \mathcal{O}(G)$, and $h' \in \mathcal{O}(G')$. We consider the Hefer decomposition (13.2) for h and h' and a point $z \in G \cap G'$.

If $n \ge 3$, we consider the forms $U_{k,j}(\zeta,z)$ given for $1 \le k < j \le n$ by

$$U_{k,j}(\zeta,z) = \frac{(-1)^{n+j+k}(n-3)!}{(2\pi i)^n(\zeta_k - z_k)(\zeta_j - z_j)} \left[\sum_{m=1}^{k-1} \frac{(-1)^m(\bar{\zeta}_m - \bar{z}_m)}{|\zeta - z|^{2n-4}} d\bar{\zeta}[m,k,j] + \sum_{m=k+1}^{j-1} \frac{(-1)^{m-1}(\bar{\zeta}_m - \bar{z}_m)}{|\zeta - z|^{2n-4}} d\bar{\zeta}[k,m,j] + \sum_{m=j+1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^m(\bar{\zeta}_m - \bar{z}_m)}{|\zeta - z|^{2n-4}} d\bar{\zeta}[k,j,m] \wedge d\zeta.$$

For k > j, we set $U_{k,j} = -U_{j,k}$. We further denote

$$\chi_{h,h'}(\zeta) = \sum_{1 \leq k < j \leq n} \frac{(h_k h'_j - h'_k h_j)(\zeta_k - z_k)(\zeta_j - z_j) U_{k,j}(\zeta, z)}{(h(\zeta) - h(z))(h'(\zeta) - h'(z))}.$$

Lemma 13.2. The following equalities hold on the set $(G \setminus L_z(h)) \cap (G' \setminus L_z(h'))$:

$$\Phi_h(\zeta) - \Phi_{h'}(\zeta) = \overline{\partial}\chi_{h,h'}(\zeta), \quad \text{if} \quad n \geqslant 3, \tag{13.3}$$

$$\Phi_h(\zeta) - \Phi_{h'}(\zeta) = \frac{(h_1 h_2' - h_2 h_1') d\zeta_1 \wedge d\zeta_2}{(2\pi i)^2 (h(\zeta) - h(z)) (h'(\zeta) - h'(z))}, \quad if \quad n = 2. \quad (13.4)$$

LEMMA 13.3. On the set $G \setminus L_z(h)$, we have

$$\frac{\partial \Phi_h}{\partial \bar{z}_k} = \frac{\partial U_k}{\partial \bar{z}_k} - \overline{\partial}_{\zeta} \Psi_h^k, \quad k = 1, \dots, n, \quad \text{for} \quad n \geqslant 3,$$

and

$$\frac{\partial \Phi_h}{\partial \bar{z}_k} = \frac{\partial U_k}{\partial \bar{z}_k}, \quad k = 1, 2, \quad for \quad n = 2,$$

where

$$\Psi_h^k(\zeta) = \frac{1}{h(\zeta) - h(z)} \sum_{j \neq k} h_j(\zeta, z) (\zeta_j - z_j) \frac{\partial U_{j,k}(\zeta, z)}{\partial \bar{z}_k}.$$

Suppose now $G \supset \overline{D}$, $h \in \mathcal{O}(G)$, and $G(h) = \bigcup_{s=1}^{\infty} G_s(h)$, where $G_s(h) = \{z \in G : |h(z)| > \max_{\overline{D} \setminus D_s} |h|\}.$

Consider the function

$$F_h^s(z) = \int_{\Gamma_s} f(\zeta)U(\zeta, z) - \int_{\partial \Gamma_s} f(\zeta)\Phi_h(\zeta). \tag{13.5}$$

The idea of the proof is to show that F_h^s is holomorphic in $G_s(h) \setminus \Gamma$ and independent of s and h, while outside \overline{D} it equals zero, and so (13.5) gives a holomorphic extension of f into $D \setminus K$ (by the jump theorem of the Bochner-Martinelli integral).

The function (13.5) is defined for $z \notin \Gamma$ and $z \in G_s(h)$, since $\partial \Gamma_s \subset \overline{D \setminus D_s}$.

We first show that it does not depend on s. Indeed, if s' > s, then the function $F_h^{s'}$ also is defined in $G_s(h) \setminus \Gamma$, so

$$F_h^{s'}(z) - F_h^s(z) = \int_{\Gamma_{s'} \setminus \Gamma_s} f(\zeta) U(\zeta, z)$$
$$- \int_{\partial \Gamma_{s'}} f(\zeta) \Phi_h(\zeta) + \int_{\partial \Gamma_s} f(\zeta) \Phi_h(\zeta).$$

Since $|h(z)| > |h(\zeta)|$ if $z \in G_s(h)$, and $\zeta \in \overline{\Gamma_{s'} \setminus \Gamma_s}$ (because $\Gamma_{s'} \setminus \Gamma_s \subset \overline{D \setminus D_s}$), the form Φ_h has no singularities on $\overline{\Gamma_{s'} \setminus \Gamma_s}$, and $\overline{\partial} \Phi_h = U(\zeta, z)$ by Lemma 13.1. The coefficients of Φ_h are class C^{∞} , and we can extend them outside $\overline{\Gamma_{s'} \setminus \Gamma_s}$ as functions of class C^{∞} with compact support, so (13.1)

is applicable. Consequently, $F_h^{s'}(z) = F_h^s(z)$. From now on we shall omit the symbol s on the function F_h^s .

LEMMA 13.4. If F satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 13.1, then for $z \in G_s(h)$ we have

$$F(z) = F_h(z), \quad z \in D \setminus K.$$

PROOF. The Bochner-Martinelli formula can be applied to the function F in the domain D_s . The boundary $\partial D_s = \Gamma_s \cup K_s$, where $K_s = D \cap \{z : 1 - \beta(z) = \varepsilon_s\}$, and we may assume that K_s is also a smooth manifold. For $z \in G_s(h) \cap D$, we then have

$$F(z) = \int_{\partial D_s} F(\zeta)U(\zeta, z) = \int_{\Gamma_s} f(\zeta)U(\zeta, z) + \int_{K_s} F(\zeta)U(\zeta, z).$$

But $|h(z)| > |h(\zeta)|$ for $\zeta \in K_s \subset \overline{D \setminus D_s}$, so $U(\zeta, z) = \overline{\partial} \Phi_h(\zeta)$, and by Stokes's formula

$$\int_{K_s} F(\zeta)U(\zeta,z) = \int_{\partial K_s} F(\zeta)\Phi_h(\zeta) = -\int_{\partial \Gamma_s} f(\zeta)\Phi_h(\zeta). \quad \Box$$

Lemma 13.4 shows why we have to choose the function F_h^s in the form (13.5).

LEMMA 13.5. The function $F_h(z)$ is holomorphic in $G(h) \setminus \Gamma$.

PROOF. If $z \in G_s(h) \setminus \Gamma$, then by Lemma 13.3 and by (13.1) we have

$$\frac{\partial F_h}{\partial \bar{z}_k} = \int_{\Gamma_s} f \frac{\partial U}{\partial \bar{z}_k} - \int_{\partial \Gamma_s} f \frac{\partial \Phi_h}{\partial \bar{z}_k}$$

$$= \int_{\Gamma_s} f \frac{\partial U}{\partial \bar{z}_k} - \int_{\partial \Gamma_s} f \left(\frac{\partial U_k}{\partial \bar{z}_k} - \overline{\partial} \Psi_h^k \right) = \int_{\Gamma_s} f \overline{\partial}_{\zeta} \left(\frac{\partial U_k}{\partial \bar{z}_k} \right) - \int_{\partial \Gamma_s} f \frac{\partial U_k}{\partial \bar{z}_k}.$$

But since the form $\frac{\partial U_k}{\partial \bar{z}_k}$ has no singularities on Γ_s (if $z \notin \Gamma$), we obtain that $\frac{\partial F_h}{\partial \bar{z}_k} = 0$ for $k = 1, \ldots, n$ by again applying (13.1). \square

LEMMA 13.6. If $h' \in \mathcal{O}(G')$, where $G' \supset \overline{D}$, then $F_h = F_{h'}$ for $z \in G'_s(h') \cap G_s(h) \setminus \Gamma$.

PROOF. The case $n \ge 3$ is proved using (13.3) and (13.1).

SECTION 13

If n = 2, then using (13.4) we obtain

$$F_h(z) - F_{h'}(z) = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \int_{\partial \Gamma_c} \frac{f(\zeta)(h_2 h'_1 - h_1 h'_2) d\zeta}{(h(\zeta) - h(z))(h'(\zeta) - h'(z))}.$$
 (13.6)

Since $z \in G'_s(h') \cap G_s(h) \setminus \Gamma$, we have $|h(\zeta)| < |h(z)|$ and $|h'(\zeta)| < |h'(z)|$ for $\zeta \in \partial \Gamma_s$, so

$$\frac{1}{(h(\zeta) - h(z))(h'(\zeta) - h'(z))} = \sum_{k,j \ge 0} \frac{(h(\zeta))^k (h'(\zeta))^j}{(h(z))^{1+k} (h'(z))^{1+j}},$$

and this series converges absolutely and uniformly on $\partial \Gamma_s$. Substituting it into (13.6) and integrating term by term, we find

$$F_h(z) - F_{h'}(z) = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \sum_{k,j \ge 0} \frac{1}{(h(z))^{1+k} (h'(z))^{1+j}} \int_{\partial \Gamma_s} f \mu_{k,j},$$

where

$$\mu_{k,j} = (h_2 h_1' - h_1 h_2') (h(\zeta))^k (h'(\zeta))^j d\zeta.$$

The form $\mu_{k,j}$ is $\overline{\partial}$ -closed on Γ_s , so by (13.1),

$$\int_{\partial \Gamma_s} f \mu_{k,j} = \int_{\Gamma_s} f \overline{\partial} \mu_{k,j} = 0. \quad \Box$$

Thus, the integral (13.5) defines a function F that is holomorphic in $D \setminus K$ and holomorphic outside \overline{D} . Let W be a neighborhood of $\partial D \setminus K = \Gamma$ contained in

$$\bigcup_{G \supset \overline{D}} \bigcup_{h \in \mathcal{O}(G)} G(h)$$

such that $W \setminus \Gamma = W_+ \cup W_-$, where $W_+ \subset D$, while $W_- \subset \mathbb{C}^n \setminus \overline{D}$ and W_+ , W_- are connected sets. We will show that F = 0 in W_- .

Consider a neighborhood $G \supset \overline{D}$ and $h \in \mathcal{O}(G)$, and suppose $z \in G$ is a point such that $|h(z)| > \max_{\overline{D}} |h|$. Such a point exists since $\overline{D} \subset G$ and |h| does not attain a maximum inside G. This point $z \notin \overline{D}$. Let

$$G_1(h) = \{z : |h(z)| > \max_{\overline{D}} |h|\}.$$

Then

$$F(z) = F_h(z) = \int_{\Gamma_s} f(\zeta)U(\zeta, z) - \int_{\partial \Gamma_s} f(\zeta)\Phi_h(\zeta).$$

But Φ_h does not have singularities on Γ_s because $L_z(h)$ does not intersect ∂D , while $\overline{\partial} \Phi_h = U(\zeta, z)$. By (13.1), F(z) = 0.

Since F = 0 in $G_1(h) \subset G(h)$, while $G_1(h) \cap W_- \neq \emptyset$ (so G_1 will abut $\partial D \setminus K$) and W_- is a connected set, $F \equiv 0$ in W_- . \square

Theorem 13.1 generalizes results from [76].

As can be seen from the proof of this theorem, we do not need to require connectedness of Γ , but only, for example, the following: the compact set $K \subset \overline{D}$, and K is convex with respect to the class $\mathcal{O}(G)$, where G is a domain of holomorphy containing \overline{D} , while the complement $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \overline{D}$ is connected. Then every CR-function $f \in \mathcal{C}(\Gamma)$ extends holomorphically into $D \setminus K$. Indeed, in this case F will be holomorphic in $G \setminus \overline{D}$, and consequently will extend holomorphically into D by Hartogs's theorem.

For domains in \mathbb{C}^2 , the $\mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$ -convexity of K is also a necessary condition for the existence of a holomorphic extension.

THEOREM 13.2 (Stout [77]). Suppose D is a bounded strongly pseudo-convex domain in \mathbb{C}^2 with $\partial D \in \mathcal{C}^2$. If K is a compact subset of ∂D , then every CR-function in $\partial D \setminus K$ extends holomorphically into D if and only if $K = \widehat{K}_{\overline{D}}$.

After Theorem 13.1 it was appeared a lot of results in this direction. Lupacciolu [52]–[55] considered different classes of compact sets: meromorphically convex sets, p-meromorphically convex sets; Kytmanov [34] considered the case of integrable CR-functions; other classes compact sets and CR-functions were considered by Lupacciolu and Stout [56]. The surveys of different results can be found in [77, 14].

Theorem 13.1 was considered on generic manifolds in [42, 43].

Consider a local version of Theorem 13.1. Let Ω be a domain of holomorphy in \mathbb{C}^n . Let $K \subset \Omega$ be a compact set, and suppose the hypersurface Γ is a smooth, oriented, relatively closed manifold in $\Omega \setminus K$. We will assume that $\Gamma = \{z \in \Omega \setminus K : \rho(z) = 0\}$, $\rho \in \mathcal{C}^1(\Omega \setminus K)$ and real-valued, $d\rho \neq 0$ on Γ . Then $\Omega \setminus (\Gamma \cup K) = \Omega^+ \cup \Omega^-$, where $\Omega^+ = \{z \in \Omega \setminus K : \rho(z) > 0\}$ and $\Omega^- = \{z \in \Omega \setminus K : \rho(z) < 0\}$.

We are interested in the question:

PROBLEM 13.3. Whether every CR-function f on Γ can be represented as the difference of boundary values of functions h^{\pm} that are holomorphic in Ω^{\pm} .

If n=2, then even in the simplest situations the answer is negative. Consider the following example.

SECTION 14

EXAMPLE 13.1. Suppose Ω is the unit bidisk, that is $\Omega = \{z \in \mathbb{C}^2 : |z_1| < 1, |z_2| < 1\}$, let $K = \{(0,0)\}$, and let $\Gamma = \{z \in \Omega \setminus K : |z_1| = |z_2|\}$. Then Γ is a smooth hypersurface in $\Omega \setminus K$. The set $\Omega \setminus (\Gamma \cup K) = \Omega^+ \cup \Omega^-$, where $\Omega^+ = \{z \in \Omega : |z_1| < |z_2|\}$, and $\Omega^- = \{z \in \Omega : |z_1| > |z_2|\}$. We take the function $1/(z_1z_2)$ as the CR-function f on Γ . If $f = h^+ - h^-$ on Γ , where $h^{\pm} \in \mathcal{O}(\Omega^{\pm})$, then

$$\int_{\substack{|z_1|=a-\varepsilon\\|z_2|=a}} h^+ dz_1 \wedge dz_2 = 0,$$

since for fixed z_2 the function h^+ is holomorphic in the disk $\{|z_1| < |z_2|\}$. For precisely the same reason,

$$\int_{\substack{|z_1|=a+\varepsilon\\|z_2|=a}} h^- dz_1 \wedge dz_2 = 0,$$

and then

$$\int_{\substack{|z_1|=a\\|z_2|=a}} f dz_1 \wedge dz_2$$

must be zero; but it equals $(2\pi i)^2$.

This example shows that in \mathbb{C}^2 , we cannot remove even a point from Ω .

THEOREM 13.3 (Kytmanov [35]). Let Ω be a domain of holomorphy in \mathbb{C}^n , where $n \geq 3$. Consider a compact set $K = \widehat{K}_{\Omega} \subset \Omega$ and a smooth, oriented, relatively closed hypersurface Γ in $\Omega \setminus K$. If f is a CR-function on Γ , then f can be represented on Γ as the difference of boundary values of functions $h^{\pm} \in \mathcal{O}(\Omega^{\pm})$.

14. Removable Singularities of CR-functions

THEOREM 14.1 (Kytmanov [34]). Under the hypotheses of Theorem 13.1, if the CR-function $f \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\Gamma)$, then its holomorphic extension F also is bounded, and

$$||f||_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}} = \sup_{D \setminus K} |F|.$$

In particular, if $\partial D \in C^1$ and $K \subset \partial D$, then $F \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty}(D)$ and, therefore, its boundary values gives a CR-extension of f on the whole boundary ∂D .

PROOF. Suppose $F(z^0) = 1$ for some point $z^0 \in D \setminus K$, yet $||f||_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}} < 1$. Since the f^k are also CR-functions, and their holomorphic extensions given by the functions F^k , we have by (13.5) that

$$1 = F^{k}(z^{0}) = \int_{\Gamma_{s}} f^{k}(\zeta)U(\zeta, z) - \int_{\partial\Gamma_{s}} f^{k}(\zeta)\Phi_{h}(\zeta).$$

The integrals on the right-hand side tends to zero as $k \in \infty$ since $f^k(\zeta) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$, and we can apply the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem.

COROLLARY 14.1 (Analogue of Riemann's theorem). Suppose \overline{D} is a holomorphically convex compact set, $\partial D \in \mathcal{C}^1$, and $\mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$ is dense in the class of functions $\mathcal{A}(D)$. If $h \in \mathcal{A}(D)$, f is a CR-function on $\partial D \setminus K$, where $K = \{z \in \partial D : h(z) = 0\}$, and $f \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\partial D)$, then f is a CR-function on ∂D .

Since $\sigma(K) = 0$, we may assume here that f is defined on whole boundary ∂D .

PROOF. Let $S = \{z \in \overline{D} : h(z) = 0\}$. Since $\mathcal{O}(\overline{D})$ is dense in $\mathcal{A}(D)$, we have $\widehat{K}_{\overline{D}} = \widehat{K}_{\mathcal{A}(D)}$, so $\widehat{K}_{\overline{D}} = S$. In view of Theorem 14.1, the function f extends into $D \setminus S$ as a holomorphic function F that is bounded in $D \setminus S$. By Riemann's theorem, F extends holomorphically into D. Consequently, f is a CR-function on ∂D . \square

If, in the situation of Corollary14.1, the CR-function $f \in \mathcal{L}^1(\partial D \setminus K)$, then it might not be a CR-function on ∂D .

EXAMPLE 14.1. Suppose $f = 1/z_1$, D = B(0,1), and $K = \{z \in S(0,1) : z_1 = 0\}$. Then f is a CR-function on $S(0,1) \setminus K$, and we can show that $f \in \mathcal{L}^1(S(0,1))$. Indeed,

$$\int_{S(0,1)} \frac{1}{|z_1|} d\sigma \leqslant C \int_{\{|z_1| \leqslant 1\}} \frac{1}{|z_1|} dx_1 \wedge dy_1 \int_{\{|z_2|^2 + \dots + |z_n|^2 = 1 - |z_1|^2\}} d\sigma'
\leqslant C_1 \int_{\{|z_1| \leqslant 1\}} \frac{1}{|z_1|} (1 - |z_1|^2)^{(2n-3)/2} dx_1 \wedge dy_1
= C_1 2\pi \int_0^1 (1 - r^2)^{2n-3)/2} dr < \infty.$$

But f is not a CR-function on S(0,1), for otherwise it would be extend by the Hartogs-Bochner theorem to B(0,1) as a function $F \in \mathcal{H}^1(D)$, and by the uniqueness theorem would be coincide with $1/z_1$ in B(0,1).

SECTION 14

However, if we replace the zero set K in Corollary 14.1 by a peak set, then the corollary remains true for functions of class $\mathcal{L}^1(\partial D)$.

THEOREM 14.2 (Kytmanov [32]). Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n such that ∂D is a Lyapunov surface. Suppose that $K \subset \partial D$ is a peak set for the class of holomorphic functions in D of class $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}(\overline{D})$, $\alpha > 0$ (that is, $K = \{z \in \partial D : \psi(z) = 1\}$, where ψ is a holomorphic function in D of class $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}(\overline{D})$, and $|\psi| < 1$ on $\partial D \setminus K$). If $f \in \mathcal{L}^1(\partial D)$, and f is a CR-function on $\partial D \setminus K$, then f is a CR-function on ∂D .

The generalizations of this theorem are given in [44, 60].

Bibliography

- [1] M.L.AGRANOVSKIĬ AND R.E.VAL'SKIĬ, Maximality of invariant algebras of functions, Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 12(1971), no. 1, 3–12; English transl. in Siberian Math. J. 12(1971).
- [2] M.L.AGRANOVSKIĬ AND A.M.SEMENOV, Boundary analogues of Hartogs's theorem, Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 32(1991), no. 1, 168–170; English transl. in Siberian Math. J. 32(1991), no. 1, 137–139.
- [3] L.A.AIZENBERG, Integral representations of holomorphic functions of several complex variables, Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obshch. 21(1970), 3–26; English transl. in Trans. Moscow Math. Soc. 21(1970).
- [4] L.A.AIZENBERG AND SH.A.DAUTOV, Differential forms orthogonal to holomorphic functions or forms, and their properties, Nauka, Novosibirsk, 1975; English transl. in American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1983.
- [5] L.A.AIZENBERG AND A.M.KYTMANOV, On the possibility of holomorphic extension into a domain of functions defined on a connected piece of its boundary, Mat. Sb. 182(1991), no. 4, 490–507; English transl. in Math. USSR Sb. 72(1992), no.2, 467–483.
- [6] L.A.AIZENBERG AND A.M.KYTMANOV, On the possibility of holomorphic extension into a domain of functions defined on a connected piece of its boundary, II, Ross. Akad. Nauk. Matem. Sbornik 184(1993), no. 1, 3–14; English transl. in Russian Akad. Sci. Math. Sb. 78(1994), no.1, 1–10.
- [7] L.A.AIZENBERG AND A.P.YUZHAKOV, Integral representations and residues in multidimensional complex analysis, Nauka, Novosibirsk, 1979; English transl. in American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1983.
- [8] A.M.Aronov, Functions that can be represented by a Bochner-Martinelli integral, Some Properties of Holomorphic Functions of Several Complex Variables, Inst. Fiz. Sibirsk. Otdel. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Krasnoyarsk, 1973, 35–39. (Russian)
- [9] A.M.Aronov and A.M.Kytmanov, The holomorphy of functions that are representable by the Martinelli-Bochner integral, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 9(1975), no. 3, 83-84; English transl. in Functional Anal. Appl. 9(1975).
- [10] D.BARRETT AND J.E.FORNÆSS, Uniform approximation of holomorphic functions on bounded Hartogs domains in C², Math. Zeit. 191(1986), 61-72.
- [11] H.P.Boas and Mei-Chi Shaw, Sobolev estimates for the Lewy operator on weakly pseudoconvex boundaries, Math. Ann. 274(1986), no. 2, 221–231.

- [12] S.Bochner, Analytic and meromorphic continuation by means of Green's formula, Ann. of Math. 44(1943), 652-673.
- [13] E.M.CHIRKA, Analytic representation of CR functions, Mat. Sb. 98(1975), no.4, 591-623; English transl. in Math. USSR Sb. 27(1975).
- [14] E.M.CHIRKA AND E.L.STOUT, Removable singularities in the boundary, Aspects of Mathematics, Vieweg, **E26**(1994), 43–104.
- [15] Sh.A.Dautov, The general form of the integral representation of holomorphic functions in \mathbb{C}^n , Holomorphic Functions of Several Complex Variables, Inst. Fiz. Sibirsk. Otdel. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Krasnoyarsk, 1972, 37–45. (Russian)
- [16] SH.A.DAUTOV AND A.M.KYTMANOV, The boundary values of an integral of Bochner-Martinelli type, Some Properties of Holomorphic Functions of Several Complex Variables, Inst. Fiz. Sibirsk. Otdel. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Krasnoyarsk, 1973, 49-54. (Russian)
- [17] Yu.V.Egorov and M.A.Shubin, Partial differential equations I. Foundations of the classical theory, Encyclopedia of Mathematical Sciences 30, Berlin, Springer-Verlag, 1992.
- [18] G.B.FOLLAND AND J.J.KOHN, The Neumann problem for the Cauchy-Riemann complex, Ann. of Math. Studies, No. 75, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, and Univ. of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1972.
- [19] J.GLOBEVNIK AND E.L.STOUT, Boundary Morera theorems for holomorphic functions of several complex variables, Duke Math. J. 64(1991), no. 3, 571-615.
- [20] PHILLIP GRIFFITHS AND JOSEPH HARRIS, Principles of algebraic geometry, Wiley, New York, 1978.
- [21] F.R.HARVEY AND H.B.LOWSON, On boundaries of complex analytic varieties, I, Ann. of Math. 102(1975), no. 2, 223-290.
- [22] F.R.HARVEY AND J.POLKING, The $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann solution to the inhomogeneous Cauchy-Riemann equation in the ball in \mathbb{C}^n , Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **281**(1984), no. 2, 587-613.
- [23] N. KERZMAN AND E.M.STEIN, The Szegó kernel in terms of Cauchy-Fantappiè kernels, Duke Math. J. 45(1978), no. 2, 197-224.
- [24] G.M.Khenkin, The method of integral representations in complex analysis, Several Complex Variables I, Encyclopedia of Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 7, Springer-Verlag, 1990, 19-116.
- [25] G.M.KHENKIN AND E.M.CHIRKA, Boundary properties of holomorphic functions of several complex variables, Current problems in mathematics, Vol. 4, Akad. Nauk SSSR Vsesoyuz. Inst. Nauchn. i Tekhn. Informatsii, Moscow, 1975, 12–142; English transl. in J. Soviet Math. 5(1976), no. 5.
- [26] G.M.KHENKIN AND J.LEITERER, Theory of functions on complex manifolds, Birkhäuser, Basel, Boston, Stuttgart, 1984.
- [27] J.J.Kohn, Regularity at the boundary of the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 49(1963), 206-213.
- [28] J.J.Kohn, Subellipticity of the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem on pseudoconvex domains: sufficient conditions, Acta Math. 142(1979), no. 1-2, 79-122.

- [29] WALTER KOPPELMAN, The Cauchy integral for functions of several complex variables, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. **73**(1967), 373–377.
- [30] WALTER KOPPELMAN, The Cauchy integral for differential forms, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 73(1967), 554-556.
- [31] A.M.KYTMANOV, A criterion for the holomorphy of an integral of Martinelli-Bochner type, Combinatorial and Asymptotic Analysis, KrasGU, Krasnoyarsk, 1975, 169–177. (Russian)
- [32] A.M.KYTMANOV, On the removal of singularities of integrable CR functions, Mat. Sb. 136(1988), no. 2, 178–186; English transl. in Math. USSR Sb. 64(1989), no. 1, 177–185.
- [33] A.M.KYTMANOV, On the $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann problem for smooth functions and distributions, Mat. Sb. 181(1990), no. 5, 656-668; English transl. in Math. USSR Sb. 70(1991), no. 1, 79-92.
- [34] A.M.KYTMANOV, Holomorphic extension of integrable CR functions from part of the boundary of a domain, Mat. Zametki 48(1990), no. 2, 64-71; English transl. in Math. Notes 48(1990), no. 2, 761-765.
- [35] A.M.KYTMANOV, Holomorphic extension of CR functions with singularities on a hypersurface, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Mat. 54(1990), no. 6, 1320–1330; English transl. in Math. USSR Izv. 37(1991), no. 3, 681–691.
- [36] A.M.KYTMANOV, The Bochner-Martinelli integral and its application, Novosibirsk, Nauka, 1992; English transl., Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, Boston, Berlin, 1995.
- [37] A.M.KYTMANOV AND L.A.AIZENBERG, The holomorphy of continuous functions that are representable by the Martinelli-Bochner integral, Izv. Akad. Nauk Armyan. SSR Ser. Mat. 13(1978), 158–169. (Russian)
- [38] A.M.KYTMANOV AND S.G.MYSLIVETS, On one boundary analogue of the Morera theorem, Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 36(1995), no. 6, 1350–1353; English transl. in Sib. Math. J. 36(1995), no. 6, 1171–1174.
- [39] A.M.KYTMANOV AND S.G.MYSLIVETS, On functions which are representable by some Cauchy-Fantappiè kernel, Complex Analysis and Differential Equations, Krasnoyarsk State Univ., Krasnoyarsk, 1996, 96–112. (Russian)
- [40] A.M.KYTMANOV AND S.G.MYSLIVETS, On holomorphy of functions representable by the logarithmic residue formula, Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 38(1997), no. 2, 351–361; English transl. in Sib. Math. J 38(1997), no. 2, 302–311.
- [41] A.M.KYTMANOV AND S.G.MYSLIVETS, On an application of the Bochner-Martinelli operator, Contemporary Math. 212(1998), 133–136.
- [42] A.M.KYTMANOV AND T.N.NIKITINA, Removable singularities of CR functions on generic manifolds, Izv. Ross. Akad. Nauk, Ser. Mat. 56(1992), no. 6, 673–686; English transl. in Russian Acad. Sci. Izv. Math. 40(1993), no. 3, 623–635.
- [43] A.M.KYTMANOV AND T.N.NIKITINA, On the removable singularities of CR functions given on a generic manifold, Ann. Mat. Pure Appl. (IV) 167(1994), 165–189.

- [44] A.M.KYTMANOV AND C.REA, Elimination of \mathcal{L}^1 singularities on Hölder peak sets for CR functions, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa, Cl. Sci. **22**(1995), 211–226.
- [45] A.M.KYTMANOV AND M.SH.YAKIMENKO, On holomorphic extension of hyperfunctions, Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 34(1993), no. 6, 113–122; English transl. in Siberian Math. J. 34(1993), no. 6, 1101–1109.
- [46] A.M.KYTMANOV AND M.SH.YAKIMENKO, On one criterion of existence of holomorphic extension of functions in C², Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved., Matematika 1994, no. 8, 39-45. (Russian)
- [47] N.S.LANDKOF, Foundations of modern potential theory, Nauka, Moscow, 1966; English transl., Springer-Verlag, 1972.
- [48] JEAN LERAY, Fonction de variables complexe: sa représentation comme somme de puissances négatives de fonctions linéaires, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei. Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. 20(1956), no. 5, 589-590.
- [49] JEAN LERAY, Le calcul différentiel et intégral sur une variétánalytique complexe (Problème de Cauchy, III, Bull. Soc. Math. France 87(1959), 81–180.
- [50] C.H.LOOK AND T.D.ZHONG, An extension of Privalof's theorem, Acta Math. Sinica 7(1957), no. 1, 144–165. (Chinese; English summary)
- [51] G.LUPACCIOLU, Holomorphic continuation of CR functions, Pacific J. Math. 124(1986), no. 1, 177–191.
- [52] G.LUPACCIOLU, Holomorphic continuation in several complex variables, Pacific J. Math. 128(1987), no. 1, 117-126.
- [53] G.Lupacciolu, Some global results on extensions of CR-objects in complex manifolds, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **321**(1990), no. 2, 761-774.
- [54] G.Lupacciolu, On the removal of singular sets for the tangential Cauchy-Riemann operator, Arkiv fr Mat. 28(1990), 119-130.
- [55] G.Lupacciolu, *Holomorphic and meromorphic q-hulls*, Preprint Univ. Roma, Roma, 1992, 1–50.
- [56] G.Lupacciolu and E.L.Stout, Removable singularities for $\overline{\partial}_b$, Several Complex Variables: Proceedings of the Mittag-Leffler Institute, 1987-1988, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993, 507-518.
- [57] BERNARD MALGRANGE, *Ideals of differentiable functions*, Tata Inst. Fund. Res., Bombay, and Oxford Univ. Press, London, 1967.
- [58] E.MARTINELLI, Alcuni teoremi integrali per le funzioni analitiche di più variabili complesse, Mem. R. Accad. Ital. 9(1938), 269–283.
- [59] E.MARTINELLI, Sopra una dimonstrazione de R. Fueter per un teorema di Hartogs, Comment. Math. Helv. 15(1943), 340–349.
- [60] J.MERKER AND E.PORTEN, Enveloppe d'holomorphie des variétés CR et /'elimination des singularités pour les fonctions CR intégrables, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Ser. 1, 328(1999), 853-858.
- [61] A.NAGEL AND W.RUDIN, Moebius-invariant function spaces on balls and spheres, Duke Math. J. 43(1976), 841–865.
- [62] R.M.RANGE, The $\overline{\partial}$ -Neumann operator on the unit ball in \mathbb{C}^n , Math. Ann. **266**(1984), no. 4, 449–456.

- [63] GEORGES DE RHAM, Variétés différentiables. Formes, courants, formes harmoniques, Actualités Sci. Indust., No. 1222, Hermann, Paris, 1955.
- [64] A.V.Romanov, Spectral analysis of the Martinelli-Bochner operator for the ball in \mathbb{C}^n and its applications, Funkt. Anal. i Prilozhen. 12(1978), no. 3, 86-87; English transl. in Functional Anal. Appl. 12(1978), 232-234.
- [65] A.V.Romanov, Convergence of iterates of the Martinelli-Bochner operator and the Cauchy-Riemann equation, Dokl. Akad. Nauk. SSSR **242**(1978), no. 4, 780-783; English transl. in Soviet Math. Dokl. **19**(1978), no. 5, 1211-1215.
- [66] G.Roos, L'integral de Cauchy dans \mathbb{C}^n , Lecture Notes in Math. 409(1974), 176–195.
- [67] WALTER RUDIN, Function theory in the unit ball of \mathbb{C}^n , Springer-Verlag, New York, Heidelberg, Berlin, 1980.
- [68] B.V.Shabat, Introduction in complex analysis, Part II, Nauka, Moscow, 1976; English transl., Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1992.
- [69] Mei-Chi Shaw, \mathcal{L}^2 estimates and existence theorems for the tangential Cauchy-Riemann complex, Invent. Math. 82(1985), 133-150.
- [70] A.A.SHLAPUNOV AND N.N.TARKHANOV, On the Cauchy problem for holomorphic functions of Lebesgue class \mathcal{L}^2 in a domain, Sib. Mat. Zh. 33(1992), no. 5, 186–195. (Russian)
- [71] S.L.SOBOLEV, Introduction to the theory of cubature formulas, Nauka, Moscow, 1974; English transl., Gordon & Breach, Philadelphia, 1992.
- [72] F.Sommen, Martinelli-Bochner type formulae in complex Clifford analysis, Z. Anal. Anwendungen 6(1987), no. 1, 75-82.
- [73] ELIAS M.STEIN, Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1970.
- [74] ELIAS M.STEIN, Boundary behavior of holomorphic functions of several complex variables, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1972.
- [75] E.L.Stout, The boundary values of holomorphic functions of several complex variables, Duke Math. J. 44(1977), no. 1, 105–108.
- [76] E.L.Stout, Analytic continuation and boundary continuity of functions of several complex variables, Proc. Edinburg Royal Soc. 89A(1981), 63-74.
- [77] E.L.Stout, Removable singularities for the boundary values of holomorphic functions, Several Complex Variables: Proceedings of the Mittag-Leffler Institute, 1987-1988, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993, 600-629.
- [78] N.L. VASILEVSKII AND M.V. SHAPIRO, Some questions of hypercomplex analysis, Complex analysis and applications, conference proceedings (Varna 1987), Publ. House Bulg. Acad. Sci., Sofia, 1989, 523–531.
- [79] V.S.VLADIMIROV, Methods of the theory of functions of many complex variables, Nauka, Moscow, 1964; English transl., MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1966.
- [80] R.O.Wells, Differential analysis on complex manifolds, Springer-Verlag, 1980.
- [81] A.P.YUZHAKOV AND A.V.KUPRIKOV, *The logarithmic residue in* \mathbb{C}^n , Property of Holomorphic Functions of Several Complex Variables, Inst. Fiz. Sibirsk. Otdel. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Krasnoyarsk, 1973, 181–191. (Russian)

Lecture Notes Series

- 1. M.-H. Kim (ed.), Topics in algebra, algebraic geometry and number theory, 1992
- 2. J. Tomiyama, The interplay between topological dynamics and theory of C*-algebras, 1992; 2nd Printing, 1994
- 3. S. K. Kim, S. G. Lee and D. P. Chi (ed.), Proceedings of the 1st GARC Symposium on pure and applied mathematics, Part I, 1993
 - H. Kim, C. Kang and C. S. Bac (ed.), Proceedings of the 1st GARC Symposium on pure and applied mathematics, Part II, 1993
- 4. T. P. Branson, The functional determinant, 1993
- 5. S. S.-T. Yau, Complex hyperface singularites with application in complex geometry, algebraic geometry and Lie algebra, 1993
- 6. P. Li, Lecture notes on geometric analysis, 1993
- 7. S.-H. Kye, Notes on operator algebras, 1993
- 8. K. Shiohama, An introduction to the geometry of Alexandrov spaces, 1993
- 9. J. M. Kim (ed.), Topics in algebra, algebraic geometry and number theory II, 1993
- 10. O. K. Yoon and H.-J. Kim, Introduction to differentiable manifolds, 1993
- 11. P. J. McKenna, Topological methods for asymmetric boundary value problems, 1993
- 12. P. B. Gilkey, Applications of spectral geometry to geometry and topology, 1993
- 13. K.-T. Kim, Geometry of bounded domains and the scaling techniques in several complex variables, 1993
- 14. L. Volevich, The Cauchy problem for convolution equations, 1994
- 15. L. Elden and H. S. Park, Numerical linear algebra algorithms on vector and parallel computers, 1993
- 16. H. J. Choe, Degenerate elliptic and parabolic equations and variational inequalities, 1993
- S. K. Kim and H. J. Choe (ed.), Proceedings of the second GARC Symposium on pure and applied mathematics, Part I, The first Korea-Japan conference of partial differential equations, 1993
 - J. S. Bae and S. G. Lee (ed.), Proceedings of the second GARC Symposium on pure and applied mathematics, Part II, 1993
 - D. P. Chi, II. Kim and C.-II. Kang (ed.), Proceedings of the second GARC Symposium on pure and applied mathematics, Part III, 1993
- 18. II.-J. Kim (ed.), Proceedings of GARC Workshop on geometry and topology ' 93, 1993
- 19. S. Wassermann, Exact C*-algebras and related topics, 1994
- 20. S.-II. Kye, Notes on abstract harmonic analysis, 1994
- 21. K. T. Hahn, Bloch-Besov spaces and the boundary behavior of their functions, 1994
- 22. H. C. Myung, Non-unital composition algebras, 1994
- 23. P. B. Dubovskii, Mathematical theory of coagulation, 1994
- 24. J. C. Migliore, An introduction to deficiency modules and Liaison theory for subschemes of projective space, 1994
- 25. I. V. Dolgachev, Introduction to geometric invariant theory, 1994
- 26. D. McCullough, 3-Manifolds and their mappings, 1995
- 27. S. Matsumoto, Codimension one Anosov flows, 1995
- 28. J. Jaworowski, W. A. Kirk and S. Park, Antipodal points and fixed points, 1995
- 29. J. Oprea, Gottlieb groups, group actions, fixed points and rational homotopy, 1995
- 30. A. Vesnin, On volumes of some hyperbolic 3-manifolds, 1996
- 31. D. H. Lee, Complex Lie groups and observability, 1996
- 32. X. Xu, On vertex operator algebras, 1996
- 33. M. H. Kwack, Families of normal maps in several variables and classical theorems in complex analysis, 1996
- 34. A. V. Fursikov and O. Yu. Imanuvilov, Controllability of evolution equations, 1996
- 35. Y. W. Lee, Introduction to knot theory, 1996
- 36. H. Kitahara, Some topics on Carnot-Caratheodory metrics, 1996; 2nd Printing (revised), 1998
- 37. D. Auckly, Homotopy K3 surfaces and gluing results in seiberg-witten theory, 1996
- 38. D. H. Chae (ed.), Proceedings of Miniconference of Partial Differential Equations and Applications, 1997
- 39. II. J. Choe and II. O. Bae (ed.), Proceedings of Korea-Japan Partial Differential Equations Conference, 1997
- 40. P. B. Gilkey, J. V. Leahy and J. G. Park, Spinors, spectral geometry, and Riemannian submersions, 1998
- 41. D.-P. Chi and G. J. Yun, Gromov-Hausdorff topology and its applications to Riemannian manifolds, 1998
- 42. D. II. Chae and S.-K. Kim (ed.), Proceedings of international workshop on mathematical and physical aspects of nonlinear field theories, 1998
- 43. II. Kosaki, Type III Factors and Index Theory, 1998
- 44. A. V. Kim and V. G. Pimenov, Numerical methods for delay differential equations Application of i-smooth calculus-, 1999
- 45. J. M. Landsberg, Algebraic Geometry and projective differential geometry, 1999
- 46. S. Y. Choi, H. Kim and H. K. Lec(ed.), The Proceedings of the Conference on Geometric Structures on Manifolds, 1999
- 47. M. W. Wong, Localization Operators, 1999
- 48. A. M. Kytmanov, Some Applications of the Bochner-Martinelli Integral, 1999

-